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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ADAMAS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
March 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Available-for-sale securities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Available-for-sale securities, non-current

20,918

23,735
89,917

1,689

794

1,474

2,541

115,236

116,987

3,138

3,156

10,086

22,292

38

38

Other assets
Total assets

$

91,155

$

128,498

$

142,473

$

3,018

$

3,589

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

4,937

5,867

306

287

8,261

9,743

492

547

8,753

10,290

—

—

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value — 5,000,000 shares authorized, and zero shares issued and outstanding at March 31,
2017 and December 31, 2016
Common stock, $0.001 par value — 100,000,000 shares authorized, 22,321,984 and 22,013,644 shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

27

27

258,121

254,558

(166)

(193)

(138,237)

(122,209)

119,745
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

128,498

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ADAMAS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

Revenue

2016

$

—

$

175

Operating expenses
Research and development

7,088

General and administrative, net
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

7,522

9,144

6,641

16,232

14,163

(16,232)

(13,988)

Interest and other income, net

204

Net loss

$

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

$

(16,028)

$

(0.72)

$

22,206

Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(13,828)
(0.65)
21,253
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ADAMAS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

Net loss

2016

$

(16,028)

$

(16,001)

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities

$

(13,828)

$

(13,659)

27

Comprehensive loss

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ADAMAS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

$

(16,028)

$

(13,828)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities
Depreciation
Stock-based compensation
Net accretion of discounts and amortization of premiums of available-for-sale securities

284

137

2,884

2,553

223

258

(36)

(105)

Changes in assets and liabilities
Accrued interest of available-for-sale securities
Prepaid expenses and other assets

1,043

(729)

Accounts receivable

(895)

Accounts payable

(473)

Accrued liabilities and other liabilities

(938)

(1,668)

(13,936)

(12,502)

(364)

(461)

Net cash used in operating activities

823
57

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of available-for-sale securities

(6,992)

Maturities of available-for-sale securities

17,800

16,072

10,444

15,611

—

62,030

Net cash provided by investing activities

—

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from public offerings, net of offering costs
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

675

163

675

62,193

(2,817)

65,302

23,735

33,104

20,918

$

98,406

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities
Purchases of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expense

51

400

Public offering costs in accounts payable

—

208

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ADAMAS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
1.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) is a pharmaceutical company that discovers and develops chrono-synchronous therapies to improve the
daily lives of people affected by chronic neurologic disorders. The Company pioneered a platform to develop medicines for chronic neurologic disorders based
upon an understanding of time-dependent biologic processes responsible for disease activity and drug response. The Company calls these medicines chronosynchronous therapies. The Company’s portfolio includes:
ADS-5102 : an amantadine therapy with a U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) accepted New Drug Application (“NDA”) for the treatment of
levodopa-induced dyskinesia (“LID”) in patients with Parkinson’s disease. LID is a form of dyskinesia (abnormality or impairment of voluntary movement)
associated with levodopa, a drug used to treat Parkinson’s disease. The NDA for ADS-5102 in LID has a Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“PDUFA”) date, or
deadline by which the FDA must review the NDA, of August 24, 2017, and, if approved, the Company plans to commercialize ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID
in patients with Parkinson’s disease in 2017.
ADS-4101 : a lacosamide therapy in clinical development for the treatment of partial onset seizures in patients with epilepsy. The active ingredient in
ADS-4101 is lacosamide, an anti-epileptic previously approved by the FDA, which is currently marketed by UCB as VIMPAT ® (lacosamide).
Namenda XR ® (memantine hydrochloride) extended-release capsules and Namzaric ® (memantine hydrochloride extended-release and donepezil
hydrochloride) capsules: two commercially available drugs currently marketed by Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited (“Forest”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Allergan plc (collectively, “Allergan”) in the United States for the treatment of moderate to severe Alzheimer’s disease. The Company is eligible to
receive royalties on net sales of Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® beginning in June of 2018 and May of 2020, respectively.
In January 2016, the Company completed a follow-on public offering of 2,875,000 shares of its common stock, which includes the exercise in full by the
underwriters of their option to purchase 375,000 shares of common stock, at an offering price of $23.00 per share. Proceeds from the follow-on public offering
were approximately $61.8 million , net of underwriting discounts and offering-related transaction costs.
The Company was incorporated in the State of Delaware on November 15, 2000. The Company’s headquarters and operations are located in Emeryville,
California. The Company has four insignificant subsidiaries.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X.
The financial statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) that the Company believes are necessary for a fair presentation
of the periods presented. The condensed consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016 was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements, but does
not include all disclosures required by U.S. GAAP. These interim financial results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full fiscal year or
any other future period and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto for the year ended
December 31, 2016 , included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, including those related to
revenue recognition, clinical trial accruals, fair value of assets and liabilities, income taxes, and stock-based compensation. Management bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other market-specific and relevant assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.
Liquidity and Financial Condition
To date, a substantial majority of the Company’s resources have been dedicated to the research and development of its products. The Company has not
generated any commercial revenue from the sale of its products, and does not anticipate the generation of any commercial product revenue until it receives the
necessary regulatory approval to launch one of its products.
Based upon the current status of, and plans for, its product development and commercialization, the Company believes that the existing cash, cash
equivalents, and investments of $122.2 million as of March 31, 2017 will be adequate to satisfy the Company’s capital needs through at least the next twelve
months from the issuance of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. However, the process of developing and commercializing products requires significant research
and development, preclinical testing and clinical trials, manufacturing arrangements, as well as regulatory approvals. These activities, together with the Company’s
general and administrative expenses, are expected to result in significant operating losses until the commercialization of the Company’s products or license
agreements generate sufficient revenue to offset expenses. While the Company had net income during 2014, 2013, and 2012, it has not generated any commercial
revenue from sales of its products. Under its license agreement with Allergan, the Company received the final milestone payment in 2014, and is not entitled to
receive any royalties for net sales of Namzaric ® until mid-2020 and Namenda XR ® until mid-2018. To achieve sustained profitability, the Company, alone or with
others, must successfully develop its product candidates, obtain required regulatory approvals, and successfully manufacture and market its products.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when all four of the following criteria have been met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, (iii) the fee is fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue under license arrangements is
recognized based on the performance requirements of the contract. Determinations of whether persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and whether delivery
has occurred or services have been rendered are based on management’s judgments regarding the fixed nature of the fees charged for deliverables and the
collectability of those fees. Should changes in conditions cause management to determine that these criteria are not met for any new or modified transactions,
revenue recognized could be adversely affected.
The Company generates revenue from collaboration and license agreements for the development and commercialization of products. Collaboration and
license agreements may include non-refundable upfront license fees, partial or complete reimbursement of research and development costs, contingent
consideration payments based on the achievement of defined objectives, and royalties on sales of commercialized products. The Company’s performance
obligations under the collaboration and license agreements may include the license or transfer of intellectual property rights, obligations to provide research and
development services and related materials, and obligations to participate on certain development and/or commercialization committees with the partners.
For revenue agreements with multiple-element arrangements, the Company allocates revenue to each non-contingent element based on the relativeselling-price of each element in an arrangement. When applying the relative-selling-price method, the Company determines the selling price for each deliverable
using the following estimation hierarchy: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value of the deliverable, if it exists, (ii) third-party evidence of selling price,
if vendor-specific objective evidence is not available, or (iii) the vendor’s best estimate of selling price, if neither vendor-specific nor third-party evidence is
available. Revenue allocated is then recognized when the four basic revenue recognition criteria, mentioned above, are met for each element.
8
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The Company recognizes payments that are contingent upon achievement of a substantive milestone in their entirety in the period in which the milestone
is achieved. Milestones are defined as events that can only be achieved based on the Company’s performance and there is substantive uncertainty about whether
the event will be achieved at the inception of the arrangement. Events that are contingent only on the passage of time or only on counterparty performance are not
considered milestones subject to this guidance. Further, the amounts received must relate solely to prior performance, be reasonable relative to all of the
deliverables and payment terms within the agreement and commensurate with the Company’s performance to achieve the milestone after commencement of the
agreement.
Amounts related to research and development funding and full-time equivalents assigned to the license agreement are recognized as the related services or
activities are performed, in accordance with the contract terms.
Accounts Receivable
The Company’s accounts receivable balance consists of amounts due from Allergan, in accordance with the contract terms of the license agreement, for
research and development funding and full-time equivalents assigned to the Allergan license agreement, as well as for reimbursement of external costs, recorded as
contra-expense, associated with supporting prosecution and litigation of intellectual property rights.
Clinical Trial Accruals
The Company’s clinical trial accruals are based on estimates of patient enrollment and related costs at clinical investigator sites as well as estimates for
the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with multiple research institutions and contract research organizations (“CROs”) that conduct and
manage clinical trials on the Company’s behalf.
The Company estimates clinical trial expenses based on the services performed pursuant to contracts with research institutions and CROs that conduct and
manage clinical trials on its behalf. In accruing service fees, the Company obtains the reported level of patient enrollment at each site and estimates the time period
over which services are to be performed and activity expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from
the estimate, the Company will adjust the accrual accordingly. Payments made to third parties under these arrangements in advance of the receipt of the related
services are recorded as prepaid expenses until the services are rendered.
Research and Development
Research and development (“R&D”) expenses include salaries and related compensation, contractor and consultant fees, external clinical trial expenses
performed by CROs, licensing fees, acquired intellectual property with no alternative future use, and facility and administrative expense allocations. In addition,
the Company funds R&D at research institutions under agreements that are generally cancelable at its option. Research costs typically consist of applied research
and preclinical and toxicology work. Pharmaceutical manufacturing development costs consist of product formulation, chemical analysis, and the transfer and
scale-up of manufacturing at facilities operated by the Company’s contract manufacturers. Clinical development costs include the costs of Phase 1, Phase 2, and
Phase 3 clinical trials. These costs are a significant component of the Company’s research and development expenses.
The Company accrues costs for clinical trial activities performed by contract research organizations and other third parties based upon the estimated
amount of work completed on each study as provided by the CRO. These estimates are reviewed for reasonableness by the Company’s internal clinical personnel,
and the Company aims to match the accrual to actual services performed by the organizations as determined by patient enrollment levels and related activities. The
Company monitors patient enrollment levels and related activities using available information; however, if the Company underestimates activity levels associated
with various studies at a given point in time, the Company could be required to record significant additional R&D expenses in future periods when the actual
activity level becomes known. The Company charges all such costs to R&D expenses. Non-refundable advance payments are capitalized and expensed as the
related goods are delivered or services are performed.
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Share
Basic net loss per share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is based
upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding during the period. Common stock
equivalents are options granted under the
9
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Company’s stock awards plans and are calculated under the treasury stock method. Common equivalent shares from unexercised stock options and unvested
restricted stock units are excluded from the computation when there is a loss as their effect is anti-dilutive, or if the exercise price of such options is greater than
the average market price of the stock for the period. The Company incurred net losses for all periods presented and there were no reconciling items for potentially
dilutive securities. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, approximately 5,688,000 and 5,370,000 , respectively, shares of potentially dilutive
securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation of stock options granted to employees and directors and for employee stock purchase plan shares
by estimating the fair value of stock-based awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation of
restricted stock units granted to employees based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of stock-based awards
are recognized and amortized over the applicable vesting period. All stock options awarded to non-employees are accounted for at the fair value of the
consideration received or the fair value of the equity instrument issued, as calculated using the Black-Scholes model. Stock options granted to non-employees are
subject to periodic revaluation at each reporting date as the underlying equity instruments vest.
In order to estimate the value of share-based awards, the Company uses the Black-Scholes model, which requires the use of certain subjective
assumptions. The most significant subjective assumptions are management’s estimates of the expected volatility and the expected term of the award. In addition,
judgment is also required in estimating the amount of share-based awards that are expected to be forfeited. If actual results differ significantly from any of these
estimates, stock-based compensation expense and the Company’s results of operations could be materially impacted.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers . The amendment in this
ASU provides guidance on the revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The core principle of this update provides guidance to identify the performance
obligations under the contract(s) with a customer and how to allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. It further provides
guidance to recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. This standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance. On
July 9, 2015, the FASB approved a one-year deferral of the effective date of this standard to 2018 for public companies, with an option that would permit
companies to adopt the standard as early as the original effective date of 2017. Early adoption prior to the original effective date is not permitted. Since the
issuance of ASU 2014-09, the FASB has issued several amendments which clarify certain points, including ASU 2016-08, Principal versus Agent Considerations
(Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net) , ASU 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing , ASU 2016-11, Rescission of SEC Guidance Because
of Accounting Standards Updates 2014-09 and 2014-16 Pursuant to Staff Announcements at the March 3, 2016 EITF Meeting , ASU 2016-12, Narrow-Scope
Improvements and Practical Expedients, and ASU 2016-20 , Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The
Company plans to adopt the new standard in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the method of adoption and effect the new
guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases . The authoritative guidance significantly amends the current accounting for leases. Under
the new provisions, all lessees will report a right-of-use asset and a liability for the obligation to make payments for all leases with the exception of those leases
with a term of 12 months or less. All other leases will fall into one of two categories: (i) a financing lease or (ii) an operating lease. Lessor accounting remains
substantially unchanged with the exception that no leases entered into after the effective date will be classified as leveraged leases. For sale leaseback transactions,
a sale will only be recognized if the criteria in the new revenue recognition standard are met. For public business entities, this guidance is effective for fiscal
periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect the new
guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses of Financial
Instruments. The new guidance changes the methodology for measuring credit losses on financial instruments and the timing of when such losses are recorded.
This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect the new
guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.
3.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In accordance with ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, the Company determines the fair value of financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities using the fair value hierarchy, which establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value, as follows:
•

Level 1 inputs, which include quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•

Level 2 inputs, which include observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market
data for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. For available-for-sale securities, the Company reviews trading activity and pricing as of the
measurement date. When sufficient quoted pricing for identical securities is not available, the Company uses market pricing and other observable
market inputs for similar securities obtained from various third-party data providers. These inputs either represent quoted prices for similar assets in
active markets or have been derived from observable market data; and

•

Level 3 inputs, which include unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
underlying asset or liability. Level 3 assets and liabilities include those whose fair value measurements are determined using pricing models,
discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar valuation techniques, as well as significant management judgment or estimation.

The following table represents the fair value hierarchy for the Company’s financial assets and liabilities which require fair value measurement on a
recurring basis (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurements at
March 31, 2017
Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets
Money market

$

7,228

Corporate debt
U.S. Treasury notes
Total assets measured at fair value

$

7,228

44,149
57,092
$

108,469

$

—

—
—
$

7,228

$

—

44,149

—

57,092
$

101,241

—
$

—

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2016
Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets
Money market

$

Corporate debt
U.S. Treasury notes
Total assets measured at fair value

192

$

51,233
112,401

$

—

60,976
$

192
—

$

192

—

$

51,233

—

60,976
$

112,209

—
—

$

—

Money market funds are highly liquid investments and are actively traded. The pricing information on these investment instruments are readily available
and can be independently validated as of the measurement date. This approach results in the classification of these securities as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
11
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Corporate debt and U.S. Treasury notes are measured at fair value using Level 2 inputs. The Company reviews trading activity and pricing for these
investments as of each measurement date. When sufficient quoted pricing for identical securities is not available, the Company uses market pricing and other
observable market inputs for similar securities obtained from various third party data providers. These inputs represent quoted prices for similar assets in active
markets or these inputs have been derived from observable market data. This approach results in the classification of these securities as Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.
There were no transfers to or from Level 1 and Level 2 during the three months ended March 31, 2017 .
4.

INVESTMENTS
The Company’s investments consist of corporate debt and U.S. Treasury notes classified as available-for-sale securities.

The Company limits the amount of investment exposure as to institution, maturity, and investment type. To mitigate credit risk, the Company invests in
investment grade corporate debt and United States Treasury notes. Such securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from
earnings and shown separately as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss within stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses are reclassified
from other comprehensive loss to other income (expense) on the condensed consolidated statements of operations when incurred. The Company may pay a
premium or receive a discount upon the purchase of available-for-sale securities. Interest earned and gains realized on available-for-sale securities and amortization
of discounts received and accretion of premiums paid on the purchase of available-for-sale securities are included in investment income.
The following table is a summary of amortized cost, unrealized gain and loss, and the fair value of available-for-sale securities as of March 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
March 31, 2017
Gross Unrealized
Gains

Amortized Cost

Gross Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

Investments:
Corporate debt

$

U.S. Treasury notes
Total

44,219

$

—

57,188
$

101,407

$

91,309

$

(70)

—
$

—

$

(96)

44,149
57,092

$

(166)

$

101,241

$

(154)

$

91,155

Reported as:
Short-term investments
Long-term investments
Total

10,098
$

101,407

(12)
$

—

$

(166)

10,086
$

101,241

December 31, 2016
Gross Unrealized
Gains

Amortized Cost

Gross Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

Investments:
Corporate debt

$

51,354

$

112,402

$

$

90,050

$

$

112,402

U.S. Treasury notes
Total

$

61,048

—

$

(121)

$

51,233

5

$

(198)

$

112,209

1

$

(134)

$

89,917

$

(198)

$

112,209

5

(77)

60,976

Reported as:
Short-term investments
Long-term investments
Total

22,352

4
$

5

(64)

22,292

Short-term and long-term investments include accrued interest of $0.4 million and $0.1 million , respectively, as of March 31, 2017 . Short-term and
long-term investments includes accrued interest of $0.3 million and $0.1 million , respectively, as of December 31, 2016 . The Company has not incurred any
realized gains or losses on investments for the
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three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 . Investments are classified as short-term or long-term depending on the underlying investment’s maturity date.
Long-term investments held by the Company have a maturity date range of greater than 12 months and a maximum of 14 months as of March 31, 2017 .
5.

LICENSE AGREEMENTS

In November 2012, the Company granted Allergan an exclusive license, with right to sublicense, certain of the Company’s intellectual property rights
relating to human therapeutics containing memantine in the United States. In connection with these rights, Allergan markets and sells Namzaric ® and Namenda
XR ® for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia related to Alzheimer’s disease. Pursuant to the agreement, Allergan made an upfront payment of $65.0
million . The Company earned and received additional cash payments totaling $95.0 million upon achievement by Allergan of certain development and regulatory
milestones. Under the agreement, external costs incurred related to the prosecution and litigation of intellectual property rights are reimbursable. For the three
months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , reimbursed expenses amounting to zero and $0.3 million , respectively, are reflected as a reduction to general
and administrative, net. In addition, the Company may earn tiered royalty payments based on future net sales of Namzaric ® and Namenda XR ® .
The Company is entitled to receive royalties on net sales in the United States by Allergan, its affiliates, or any of its sublicensees of controlled-release
versions of memantine products covered by the terms of the license agreement. Beginning in May 2020, the Company will be entitled to receive royalties in the
low to mid-teens from Allergan for sales of Namzaric ® in the United States. Beginning in June 2018, the Company will be entitled to receive royalties in the low
to mid-single digits for sales of Namenda XR ® in the United States. Allergan’s obligation to pay royalties with respect to fixed-dose memantine-donepezil
products, including Namzaric ® , continues until the later of (i) 15 years after the commercial launch of the first fixed-dose memantine-donepezil product by
Allergan in the United States or (ii) the expiration of the Orange Book listed patents for which Allergan obtained rights from the Company covering such product.
Allergan’s obligation to pay royalties with respect to Namenda XR ® continues until the expiration of the Orange Book listed patents covering such products.
However, Allergan’s obligation to pay royalties for any product covered by the license is eliminated in any quarter where there is significant competition from
generics.
6.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

The Company leases approximately 18,500 square feet of office space in Emeryville, California under an operating lease that expires April 30, 2020. The
lease provides for periods of escalating rent. The total cash payments over the life of the lease are divided by the total number of months in the lease period and the
average rent is charged to expense each month during the lease period.
As of March 31, 2017 , future minimum lease payments under the non-cancelable facility operating lease were as follows (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

2017 (remaining)

$

461

2018

634

2019

653

2020

224

2021

—

Thereafter

—
$

Total

1,972

Purchase Commitments
The Company enters into contracts in the normal course of business that include, among others, arrangements with CROs for clinical trials, vendors for
pre-clinical research, and vendors for clinical supply manufacturing. These
13

Table of Contents
contracts generally provide for termination upon notice, and therefore the Company believes that its obligations under these agreements are not material.
Contingencies
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties and provide
for general indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown, because it involves claims that may be made against the Company in
the future, but have not yet been made. The Company accrues a liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such
expenditures can be reasonably estimated.
Indemnification
In accordance with the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, the Company has indemnification
obligations to its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while they are serving in such capacity. There have been no
claims to date, and the Company has a directors and officers liability insurance policy that may enable it to recover a portion of any amounts paid for future claims.
Litigation
In November 2012, the Company granted Forest an exclusive license to certain of the Company’s intellectual property rights relating to human
therapeutics containing memantine in the United States. Under the terms of that license agreement, Forest has the right to enforce such intellectual property rights
which are related to its right to market and sell Namzaric ® and Namenda XR ® for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia related to Alzheimer’s disease.
The Company has a right to participate in, but not control, such enforcement actions by Forest.
As of the date of this filing, several companies have submitted Abbreviated New Drug Applications, or ANDAs, to the FDA requesting permission to
manufacture and market generic versions of Namenda XR ® , on which the Company is entitled to receive royalties from Forest beginning in June 2018. In the
notices, these companies allege that the patents associated with Namenda XR ® , some of which are owned by Forest or licensed by Forest from Merz Pharma
GmbH & Co. KGaA, and others of which are owned by the Company and licensed by the Company exclusively to Forest in the United States, are invalid,
unenforceable, and/or will not be infringed by the companies’ manufacture, use, or sale of generic versions of Namenda XR ® . The Company, Forest, Merz
Pharma GmbH & Co. KGaA, and Merz Pharmaceuticals GmbH (together Merz) filed lawsuits in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware for
infringement of the relevant patents against all of these companies except one company for which the Company and Forest recently received that company’s notice
that its ANDA included one or more certifications pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(2)(A)(vii)(iv) and are still evaluating the next steps. The Company and Forest
will continue to enforce the patents associated with Namenda XR ® .
The Company and Forest have entered into a series of settlement agreements with all Namenda XR ® ANDA filers, except for one recent ANDA filer and
one defendant with respect to the certain patents subject to the Markman ruling described below. Entry dates for generic Namenda XR ® are governed by the
settlement agreements in that action. Subject to those agreements, the earliest date on which any of these agreements grants a license to market generic version of
Namenda XR ® is January 31, 2020 or in the alternative, an option to launch an authorized generic version of Namenda XR ® beginning on January 31, 2021.
In January 2016, the Delaware District Court issued a claim construction (Markman) ruling in the Namenda XR ® litigation that includes findings of
indefiniteness as to certain claim terms in the asserted patents licensed by the Company to Forest. On July 26, 2016, the District Court issued a final judgment of
invalidity on those patents based upon the Markman ruling. The Company and Forest filed the notice of appeal of that final judgment to the United States Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit. The appeal is ongoing. If the appeal is unsuccessful, generic entry of Namenda XR® could occur prior to January 31, 2020.
Additionally, as of the date of this filing, a number of companies have submitted ANDAs requesting permission to manufacture and market generic
versions of Namzaric ® , on which the Company is entitled to receive royalties from Forest beginning in May 2020. The Company and Forest have filed lawsuits
alleging infringement of the relevant patents against Namzaric ® ANDA filers, who are seeking to launch generic versions of Namzaric ® , in the same court as
heard the Namenda XR ® litigation. As of the date of this filing, the Company and Forest have settled with all but one of the
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ANDA filers, including all first filers on all the available dosage forms of Namzaric ® , granting a license to market the first generic versions of Namzaric ® on
January 1, 2025 subject to the settlement agreements. For the one ANDA filer that the Company and Forest have not settled with, the Company and Forest recently
received that ANDA filer’s notice that its ANDA included one or more certifications pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(2)(A)(vii)(iv) and are still evaluating the next
steps. The Company and Forest will continue to enforce the patents associated with Namzaric ® .
From time to time, the Company may be party to legal proceedings, investigations, and claims in the ordinary course of its business. Other than the
matters described above, the Company is not currently party to any material legal proceedings.
7.

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock

The amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock. Common stockholders are
entitled to dividends as and when declared by the board of directors, subject to the rights of holders of all classes of stock outstanding having priority rights as to
dividends. There have been no dividends declared to date. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote.
Public Offering
In January 2016, the Company completed a follow-on public offering of 2,875,000 shares of common stock, which includes the exercise in full by the
underwriters of their option to purchase 375,000 shares of common stock, at an offering price of $23.00 per share. Proceeds from the follow-on public offering
were approximately $61.8 million , net of underwriting discounts and offering-related transaction costs.
Shares reserved for Future Issuance
Shares of Company’s common stock reserved for future issuance are as follows:
March 31,
2017

Common stock awards issued and outstanding

5,990,484

5,483,557

Authorized for future issuance under 2014 Equity Incentive Plan

1,672,646

1,576,926

753,437

334,062

Authorized for future issuance under 2016 Inducement Plan
Employee stock purchase plan
Total

8.

December 31,
2016

752,939

532,849

9,169,506

7,927,394

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock Compensation Plans

In January 2017 , the common stock available for issuance under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) automatically increased by 4% of the
total number of shares of the Company’s capital stock outstanding on December 31, 2016 , or 880,362 shares.
In March 2016, the Company’s board of directors approved the 2016 Inducement Plan (the “Inducement Plan”) under which 450,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock were made available for issuance. In January 2017, an amendment to the Inducement Plan was approved to increase the number of
shares available for issuance an additional 450,000 shares for a total of 900,000 shares.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In January 2017 , the common stock available for issuance under the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) automatically increased by 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company’s capital stock outstanding on December 31, 2016 , or 220,090 shares.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The following table reflects stock-based compensation expense recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

Research and development:
Employees

$

Non-employee consultants

775

$

585

46

82

2,051

1,833

12

53

General and administrative:
Employees
Non-employee consultants
$

Total expense

16

2,884

$

2,553
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report. This discussion and other parts of this report contain forward-looking statements that
involve risk and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the
section of this report entitled “Risk factors.”
Overview
We are a pharmaceutical company that discovers and develops chrono-synchronous therapies to improve the daily lives of people affected by chronic
neurologic disorders. Approximately 36 million people in the United States suffer from conditions such as Parkinson’s disease, multiple sclerosis, epilepsy, and
Alzheimer’s disease. Currently available medicines may lead to sub-optimal symptom control in these disorders.
We pioneered a platform to develop medicines for chronic neurologic disorders based upon an understanding of time-dependent biologic processes
responsible for disease activity and drug response. We call these medicines chrono-synchronous therapies. These therapies synchronize the temporal pattern of
disease activity with the dynamics of drug profiles we invent without disrupting the brain’s master clock, e.g. circadian rhythm. We believe the lives of patients
with neurologic disorders are improved when these factors operate in unison.
We identify and develop chrono-synchronous therapies for patients by listening, studying, and innovating. To that end, our aim is to enable substantial
treatment effects among the existing landscape of medicines. Our portfolio includes:
ADS-5102 : an amantadine therapy with a U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) accepted New Drug Application (“NDA”) for the treatment of
levodopa-induced dyskinesia (“LID”) in patients with Parkinson’s disease. LID is a form of dyskinesia associated with levodopa, a drug used to treat Parkinson’s
disease. Over time, 90% of Parkinson’s disease patients on levodopa therapy will develop alternating periods of OFF time (e.g. rigidity) and LID, as their disease
progresses. LID is characterized by involuntary movements that are purposeless and unpredictable. The NDA for ADS-5102 in LID has a Prescription Drug User
Fee Act (“PDUFA”) date, or deadline by which the FDA must review the NDA, of August 24, 2017, and, if approved, we plan to commercialize ADS-5102 for the
treatment of LID in patients with Parkinson’s disease in 2017. If approved, ADS-5102 will be the first and only medicine approved for the treatment of LID, and it
will be the only Parkinson’s disease medicine demonstrated to reduce both LID and the time when the symptoms of Parkinson’s disease are present, referred to as
“OFF time”.
In addition, we believe ADS-5102 has opportunities to provide symptomatic treatment of other hyper- and hypokinetic neurologic disorders, including but
not limited to walking impairment in multiple sclerosis patients and other Parkinson’s disease indications.
ADS-4101 : a lacosamide therapy in clinical development for the treatment of partial onset seizures in patients with epilepsy. The active ingredient in
ADS-4101 is lacosamide, an anti-epileptic previously approved by the FDA, which is currently marketed by UCB as VIMPAT ® (lacosamide).
Namenda XR ® (memantine hydrochloride) extended-release capsules and Namzaric ® (memantine hydrochloride extended-release and donepezil
hydrochloride) capsules: two commercially available drugs currently marketed by Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited (“Forest”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Allergan plc (collectively, “Allergan”), in the United States for the treatment of moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease. We are eligible to receive
royalties on sales of Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® beginning in June of 2018 and May of 2020, respectively.
Our goal is to bring products to market, which are differentiated and distinguished by our platform insights, independently or in collaboration with
partners. From prior experience, we appreciate the value that commercial strategic alliances can bring to patients and Adamas stakeholders.
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In 2017, we are focused on commercializing ADS-5102, if approved, for the treatment of LID in patients with Parkinson’s disease. Based on our market
research, we expect ADS-5102 to be well received by physicians, patients, and payers, as there are currently no approved therapeutic treatments for LID, which is
an existing Parkinson’s disease treatment gap. Our research also indicates that payers recognize the substantial unmet need of patients with LID and the potentially
important value proposition of ADS-5102 in LID, as well as its secondary benefit in OFF time, when the symptoms of Parkinson’s disease are present.
Financial operations overview
Summary
Our revenue to date has been generated primarily from license, milestone, and development revenue pursuant to our license agreement with Allergan. We
have not generated any commercial product revenue. As of March 31, 2017 , we had an accumulated deficit of $138.2 million . Although we reported net income
in each of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, this was primarily due to the recognition of revenue pursuant to our license agreement with
Allergan. There are no further milestone payments to be earned under our license agreement with Allergan. We incurred significant losses in the three months
ended March 31, 2017 , in 2016, 2015, and prior to 2012, and expect to continue to incur significant losses as we advance our product candidates into later stages
of development and, if approved, commercialization.
We plan to commercialize ADS-5102 for LID, if approved, and potentially other wholly-owned product candidates by developing a commercial
organization, including either our own sales force or a contract sales organization, targeting neurologists and movement disorder specialists in the United States, or
possibly through partnership agreements with pharmaceutical companies. Consequently, we expect general and administrative expenses to increase as we approach
a potential product commercialization of ADS-5102 for LID currently contemplated to be later in 2017. In addition, we expect to continue to incur significant
research and development expenses as we continue to advance our product candidates through clinical development. Because of the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with drug development and commercialization, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of expenses incurred or when, or if, we will
be able to achieve or maintain profitability.
Under our agreement with Allergan, beginning in May 2020, we are entitled to receive tiered royalties in the low to mid-teens for net sales of Namzaric ®
in the United States. In addition, we are also entitled to receive tiered royalties in the low to mid-single digits from Allergan for net sales of Namenda XR ® in the
United States beginning in June 2018; however, we do not expect the Namenda XR ® royalties will make a significant financial contribution to our business.
Pursuant to the agreement, we received a non-refundable upfront license fee of $65.0 million in 2012, which we recognized on a straight-line basis from
November 2012 to February 2013. We also earned and received additional cash payments totaling $95.0 million upon achievement by Allergan of certain
development and regulatory milestones, which we recognized in 2013 and 2014.
Prior to our initial public offering of our common stock, or IPO, in April 2014, we had raised an aggregate of approximately $87.2 million through the
sale of convertible preferred stock and $1.0 million through the exercise of preferred stock warrants. In 2014, we issued and sold 3,081,371 shares of common
stock in our IPO and received net proceeds of approximately $42.6 million, which included partial exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional
shares and after deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses. In connection with the completion of our IPO, all convertible preferred stock converted
into common stock. In June 2015, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, pursuant to which we were able to issue and sell shares of
common stock having an aggregate offering value of up to $25.0 million , which was terminated in November 2016. During the term of the agreement, we issued
509,741 shares of common stock and raised net proceeds of $9.7 million . In January 2016, we raised $61.8 million from the sale of 2,875,000 shares of common
stock in a follow-on public offering.
As of March 31, 2017 , we had cash, cash equivalents, and available-for-sale securities of $122.2 million .
Revenue
We have not generated any revenue from commercial product sales to date. Our revenue to date has been generated primarily from non-refundable
upfront license payments, milestone payments, reimbursements for research and development expenses and full-time equivalents assigned under our license
agreement with Allergan, and to a lesser degree reimbursement for research and development expenses from NIH grants and government contracts. We do not
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expect to recognize any further milestone payments under our license agreement with Allergan, and we expect reimbursements for full-time equivalents assigned to
the license agreement to be inconsequential in future periods. Beginning in May 2020, we will be entitled to receive royalties in the low to mid-teens from Allergan
for net sales of Namzaric ® in the United States, and in June 2018 we will be entitled to receive royalties in the low to mid-single digits for net sales of Namenda
XR ® in the United States; however, we do not expect the Namenda XR® royalties will make a significant financial contribution to our business. We were also
awarded a continuation of an NIH grant for $1.0 million in August 2014 that terminated in July 2016, which we administered, but conducted through
subcontractors.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses represent costs incurred to conduct research, such as the discovery and development of our wholly-owned product
candidates and, to a lesser degree, the development of product candidates pursuant to our agreement with Allergan. We recognize all research and development
costs as they are incurred.
Research and development expenses consist of:
•

fees paid to clinical investigators, clinical trial sites, consultants, and vendors, including contract research organizations, or CROs, in conjunction with
implementing, conducting, and monitoring our clinical trials and acquiring and evaluating clinical trial data, including all related fees, such as for
investigator grants, patient screening fees, laboratory work, and statistical compilation and analysis;

•

expenses related to production of clinical supplies, including fees paid to contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs;

•

expenses related to compliance with regulatory requirements;

•

other consulting fees paid to third parties; and

•

employee-related expenses, which include salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation.

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

ADS-5102

$

ADS-4101
Other research and development expenses
$

Total research and development expenses

Increase/
(Decrease)

2016

5,682

$

6,184

1,052

—

354

1,338

7,088

$

7,522

$

(502)
1,052
(984)

$

(434)

The program-specific expenses summarized in the table above include costs directly attributable to our product candidates. Other research and
development expenses include costs for early stage programs and costs not allocated to a specific program. We allocate research and development salaries,
benefits, stock-based compensation, and indirect costs to our product candidates on a program-specific basis, and we include these costs in the program-specific
expenses. We begin to track and report program-specific expenses for early stage programs once they have been nominated and selected for further development
and clinical-stage work has commenced.
The largest component of our total operating expenses has historically been our investment in research and development activities, including the clinical
development of our product candidates. We anticipate incurring significant research and development expenses as we continue to support: the FDA’s review of
ADS-5102 for LID; clinical trials for ADS-5102 in indications beyond LID, including but not limited to walking impairment in multiple sclerosis patients and
other Parkinson’s disease indications earlier in the Parkinson’s disease treatment journey; ADS-4101 for treatment of epilepsy; and potentially additional clinicalstage programs in more indications or for future product candidates. The process of conducting the necessary clinical research to obtain FDA approval is costly and
time consuming. We consider the active management and development of our clinical pipeline to be crucial to our long-term success. The actual probability of
success for each product candidate and clinical program may be affected by a variety of factors, including but not limited to, the quality of the product candidate,
early clinical data, investment in the program, competition,
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manufacturing capability, and commercial viability. Furthermore, in the past we have entered into licensing arrangements with other pharmaceutical companies to
develop and commercialize our product candidates, and we may enter into additional licensing arrangements or collaborations in the future. In situations in which
third parties have control over the clinical development of a product candidate, the estimated completion dates are largely under the control of such third parties
and not under our control. We cannot forecast with any degree of certainty which of our product candidates, if any, will be subject to future licensing or
collaboration arrangements or how such arrangements would affect our development plans or capital requirements. As a result of the uncertainties discussed above,
we are unable to determine the duration and completion costs of our research and development projects or when and to what extent we will generate revenue from
the commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates.
General and administrative expenses, net
General and administrative expenses, net, consist primarily of personnel and related benefit costs, facilities, professional services, insurance, and public
company related expenses, as well as increasingly the costs associated with establishing commercial capabilities in support of the potential commercialization of
ADS-5102 for LID, reduced to a small degree by reimbursement from Allergan for external costs related to supporting prosecution and litigation of intellectual
property rights under our license agreement. We anticipate our general and administrative expenses will increase significantly as we continue to establish our
commercial capabilities and support our potential commercial-stage programs. If ADS-5102 is approved by the FDA, we plan to market and sell through our own
sales force or through a contract sales organization, targeting neurologists and movement disorder specialists in the United States, or possibly through collaboration
and license agreements with pharmaceutical companies.
Interest and other income (expense), net
Interest and other income (expense), net, consists primarily of interest received on our investments.
Critical accounting policies and significant judgments and estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, as well as the reported revenue generated and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical
experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We have discussed the development, selection, and disclosure of these
estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. There
have been no significant and material changes in our critical accounting policies during the three months ended March 31, 2017 , as compared to those disclosed in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2016 .
Results of operations
Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

Revenue

$

Increase/
(Decrease)

2016

—

$

175

$

% Increase/
(Decrease)

(175)

7,088

7,522

General and administrative expenses, net

9,144

6,641

2,503

38 %

204

160

44

28 %

Interest and other income, net
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Revenue
Revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was zero , compared to $0.2 million for the same period in the prior year. Revenue for the period in
2016 was primarily related to reimbursement of certain expenses as provided for in our license agreement with Allergan, as well as from government contracts.
Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses decreased by $0.4 million , or 6% to $7.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from $7.5 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2016 . The decrease in research and development expenses was mainly attributable to costs associated with the clinical
development of ADS-5102, due to the conclusion of two Phase 3 clinical trials assessing ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, in addition to costs associated with
the ongoing open-label safety study which decreased slightly from the prior quarter. The decrease was offset in part by increased efforts related to pre-commercial
manufacturing activities in preparation for the commercialization of ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, if approved, in addition to increased expenses related to
clinical work associated with ADS-4101 for the treatment of partial onset seizures in patients with epilepsy. Included in research and development expenses was
stock-based compensation expense, which was $0.8 million compared to $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.
General and administrative expenses, net
General and administrative expenses, net, increased by $2.5 million , or 38% , to $9.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from $6.6
million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 . The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to increased costs associated with
establishing commercial capabilities in anticipation of the commercialization of ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, pending regulatory approval, including an
increase in headcount-related expenses and commercial activities. General and administrative expenses also included stock-based compensation expense of $2.1
million compared to $1.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.
Interest and other income, net
Interest and other income, net, was essentially unchanged at $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 . Net interest income is
primarily due to interest income earned on investments.
Liquidity, capital resources and plan of operation
We have funded our operations primarily through $160.0 million of payments received pursuant to our license agreement with Allergan, $88.2 million
sales of convertible preferred stock and warrants, and $114.1 million pursuant to sales of our common stock. In April 2014, we completed our IPO and raised net
proceeds of $42.6 million, including the underwriters’ partial exercise of their option to purchase additional shares. In June 2015, we entered into a Controlled
Equity Offering Sales Agreement, pursuant to which we were able to, from time to time, issue and sell shares of common stock having an aggregate offering value
of up to $25.0 million, which was terminated in November 2016. During the term of the agreement we issued 509,741 shares of common stock and raised net
proceeds of $9.7 million. On January 6, 2016, we completed a follow-on public offering of 2,875,000 shares of common stock, which includes the exercise in full
by the underwriters of their option to purchase 375,000 shares of common stock, at an offering price of $23.00 per share. Proceeds from the follow-on public
offering were approximately $61.8 million, net of underwriting discounts and offering-related transaction costs.
We have not generated any revenue from the sale of products. We incurred losses and generated negative cash flows from operations since inception
through the year ended December 31, 2011. Although we recognized a profit and positive cash flow in 2014, 2013, and 2012 as a result of payments received
pursuant to our license agreement with Allergan, we received our final milestone payment from Allergan in December 2014. We do not currently receive any
royalties from Allergan, nor do we have other license agreements or collaborations from which we might expect milestone or royalty revenue. Consequently, we
expect to continue to incur substantial and increasing losses for the foreseeable future. Our principal sources of liquidity were our cash, cash equivalents, and
investments, which totaled $122.2 million as of March 31, 2017 , compared to $ 135.9 million at December 31, 2016 .
We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, and investments will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements, including operations
related to the continued development and potential commercialization of
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ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, for at least the next 12 months. However, it is possible that we will not achieve the progress that we expect, because the actual
costs and timing of drug development, particularly clinical studies, and regulatory approvals are difficult to predict, subject to substantial risks and delays, and
often vary depending on the particular indication and development strategy. Moreover, the costs associated with commercializing drugs are high and market
acceptance is uncertain.
We expect to continue significant spending in connection with the development and commercialization of our product candidates, particularly for ADS5102 for the treatment of LID, as well as other indications. In order to continue these activities, we may decide to raise additional funds through a combination of
public or private equity offerings, debt financings, royalty financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, asset sales, and other marketing
and distribution arrangements. Sufficient additional funding may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available in the future, we
may need to delay, reduce the scope of, or put on hold our clinical studies, research and development programs, or commercialization efforts.
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities

$

(13,936) $

(12,502)

Investing activities

10,444

15,611

Financing activities

675

62,193

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

$

(2,817) $

65,302

Net cash used in operating activities was $13.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to $12.5 million for the same period in the
prior year. Net loss of $16.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 included net non-cash adjustments of $3.4 million , which consisted primarily of
stock-based compensation of $2.9 million . Net loss of $13.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 included non-cash adjustments of $2.9 million ,
primarily related to $2.6 million in stock-based compensation. The primary use of cash for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was to fund activities in support
of the NDA and pre-commercial activities in preparation for the commercialization for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, if approved.
Net cash provided by investing activities was $10.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 , compared to net cash provided by investing
activities of $15.6 million for the same period in the prior year. Net cash provided by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was a result of
$10.8 million in net maturities of available-for-sale securities, offset by $0.4 million in purchases of property and equipment. Net cash provided by investing
activities for the three months ended March 31, 2016 was a result of $16.1 million in maturities of available-for-sale securities, offset by $0.5 million in purchases
of property and equipment.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 , compared to $62.2 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2016 . In the period ended March 31, 2017 , we received cash proceeds of $0.7 million related to the exercise of stock options. In the three
months ended March 31, 2016 , we received $61.8 million, inclusive of $0.2 million of offering costs recorded in accounts payable, related to the sale of common
stock under a follow-on public offering, coupled with $0.2 million related to the exercise of stock options.
Off-balance sheet arrangements
Since our inception, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, including the use of structured finance, special purpose entities, or
variable interest entities.
Contractual obligations
Our future contractual obligations at March 31, 2017 , were not materially different than at December 31, 2016 .
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve our capital to fund our operations. We also seek to maximize income from our
investments without assuming significant risk. To achieve our objectives, we maintain a portfolio of cash equivalents and investments in a variety of securities of
high credit quality. As of March 31, 2017 , we had cash, cash equivalents, and investments of $122.2 million , compared to $ 135.9 million at December 31, 2016 ,
consisting of cash and cash equivalents, as well as short and long-term investment grade available-for-sale securities. A portion of our investments may be subject
to interest rate risk and could fall in value if market interest rates increase. However, because our investments are primarily short-term in duration and our holdings
in US government bonds and corporate debt securities mature prior to our expected need for liquidity, we believe that our exposure to interest rate risk is not
significant and, as a consequence, a one percentage point movement in market interest rates would not have a significant impact on the total value of our portfolio.
We actively monitor changes in interest rates.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures.
As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined
in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of March 31, 2017 . Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer have concluded that, as of March 31, 2017 , our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
For information regarding legal proceedings, refer to Litigation in “Note 6 - Commitments and Contingencies” in the accompanying “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited),” which information is incorporated by reference here.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
We have identified the following risks and uncertainties that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and future growth prospects. Our business could be harmed by any of these risks. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we
face. The trading price of our common stock could decline due to any of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. In assessing these risks, you
should also refer to the other information contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
and related notes.
Risks related to the development, regulatory approval, and commercialization of our current and future product candidates, including ADS-5102
Our success depends heavily on the timely approval and successful commercialization of our product candidates, including ADS-5102. If we are unable to
successfully commercialize our product candidates or if we experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.
We have invested a significant portion of our efforts and financial resources into the development and potential commercialization of our product
candidates, including ADS-5102, an oral once daily extended-release version of the FDA-approved drug amantadine, for the treatment of levodopa-induced
dyskinesia (“LID”), for the treatment of walking impairment in patients with multiple sclerosis, and potentially other indications, as well as ADS-4101 for the
treatment of partial onset seizures in epilepsy. Our ability to generate product revenue will depend heavily on the successful development, regulatory approval, and
eventual commercialization of ADS-5102 and these other product candidates. The success of our product candidates will depend on numerous factors, including:
•

successfully completing the development program for ADS-5102 and other product candidates in a timely manner;

•

receiving marketing approval for ADS-5102 and other product candidates from the FDA in a timely manner;

•

successfully establishing and maintaining commercial manufacturing with third parties;

•

commercializing ADS-5102 and other product candidates, if approved, including marketing, sales, and distribution of the product independently or in
partnership with another company;

•

acceptance by the medical community and patients of the approved product;

•

the pricing and placement of ADS-5102 on payers’ formulary tiers and the reimbursement rates established for the approved products;

•

effectively competing with other approved or used medicines;

•

continued demonstration of an acceptable safety profile of the approved products following approval; and

•

obtaining, maintaining, enforcing, and defending intellectual property rights and claims.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to successfully
commercialize our product candidates, which would materially harm our business.
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If ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID fails to receive approval by regulatory authorities, our business will be adversely impacted and substantially harmed.
Our new drug application (“NDA”) for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID in patients with Parkinson’s disease was accepted for filing by the FDA in
January 2017 and we have a Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“PDUFA”) date of August 24, 2017. We cannot give any assurance that our NDA for ADS-5102 for
the treatment of LID will be approved by regulatory authorities. Although we have substantially completed the clinical trial program for ADS-5102 for the
treatment of LID, except for the long-term open-label safety study of ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, we do not know if the clinical package for ADS-5102 for
the treatment of LID will adequately demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the FDA to achieve regulatory approval.
In addition, NDAs are complex, multipart documents that must meet strict regulatory requirements to be acceptable for regulatory approval. NDAs must
include preclinical and clinical study data and chemistry, manufacturing, and controls data. Our contract manufacturer of ADS-5012 is subject to inspection for
Good Manufacturing Practice compliance, our contract analytical testing facilities may be subject to pre-approval inspection for Good Laboratory Practice and data
integrity, and our ADS-5102 LID clinical trial sites may be subject to bioresearch monitoring inspections for Good Clinical Practice compliance and data integrity.
Adverse inspectional findings at our contract manufacturer, at any of our contract analytical testing facilities, or at any of our clinical trial sites may lead to our
receipt of a Complete Response Letter rather than NDA approval. Additionally, this is our first NDA that we have submitted. As a result, we do not know whether
or not our NDA submission will meet the strict regulatory requirements for regulatory approval or will adequately demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to the
satisfaction of the FDA to achieve regulatory approval. Failure to achieve regulatory approval for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID would harm our business.
Our product candidates, including ADS-5102, may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, healthcare payers, and others in the
medical community necessary for commercial success, negatively impacting our business.
Our product candidates, including ADS-5102, may fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, hospital administrators, patients, healthcare
payers, and others in the healthcare community. The degree of market acceptance of our products, after FDA approval, will depend on a number of factors,
including:
•

the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

•

efficacy, duration of response, and potential advantages compared to alternative treatments;

•

the price;

•

the willingness of physicians to change their current treatment practices;

•

convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

•

the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;

•

the strength of marketing and distribution support; and

•

the availability of third-party insurance coverage or reimbursement.

The failure of our product candidates, including ADS-5102, to achieve market acceptance would negatively impact our business.
We currently have only limited commercial capabilities with no sales personnel. If we are unable to develop or obtain through outsourcing or other means our
commercial capabilities, we will not be successful in commercializing ADS-5102 or other future product candidates.
We have only a limited commercial infrastructure and have limited experience in the commercialization, sale, marketing, or distribution of
pharmaceutical products, like ADS-5102, if approved. To achieve commercial success for any approved product, including ADS-5102, we must either develop a
sales and marketing organization or outsource these functions to third parties. We expect that the primary focus of our commercialization efforts will be in the
United
25

Table of Contents
States. We intend to commercialize ADS-5102 through use of a contract sales organization (“CSO”), and our other product candidates through use of our own sales
force, a CSO, or through partnership agreements with a pharmaceutical company. Commercialization of ADS-5102 and other future product candidates outside of
the United States, to the extent pursued, is likely to require collaboration with one or more third parties.
There are risks involved with both establishing our own commercial capabilities and entering into arrangements with third parties to perform these
services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming, and if our product candidates fail to gain approval, our investment
would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.
In addition, we also may not be successful in entering into arrangements with third parties to sell and market our future product candidates or may be
unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us. If we do not establish sales and marketing capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with
third parties, we will not be successful in commercializing our future products, including ADS-5102.
Failure to successfully obtain coverage and reimbursement of our products in the United States will substantially harm our business.
Our ability to commercialize any products successfully in the United States will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and reimbursement for
these products becomes available from third-party payers, including government health administration authorities, such as those that administer the Medicare and
Medicaid programs, and private health insurers. Third-party payers decide which medications they will cover by placement on their formularies and at what
reimbursement levels. A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry is cost containment. Third-party payers have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage
and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. Increasingly, third-party payers are requiring that companies provide them with predetermined
discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. Coverage and reimbursement may not be available for products that we
commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, we cannot guarantee what the level of reimbursement will be. Coverage and reimbursement may impact the
demand for, or the price of, any product for which we obtain marketing approval. If coverage and reimbursement is not available or is available only to limited
levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any product candidate that we successfully develop, including ADS-5102.
There may be significant delays in obtaining coverage and reimbursement for approved products, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for
which the product is approved by the FDA. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any product will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that
covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, distribution, marketing, and sale. Interim payments for new products, if applicable, may also not
be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Payment rates may vary according to the use of the product, the clinical setting in which it is used,
and generic competitor availability, and may be based on initial payments for generic competitors or payments allowed for lower cost products that are already
reimbursed and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net prices for products may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required
by government healthcare programs or private third-party payers and by any future relaxation of laws that currently restrict imports of products from countries
where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. In the United States, private third-party payers often rely upon Medicare coverage and
reimbursement policies and payment limitations in setting their own coverage and reimbursement policies. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage,
reimbursement, and profitable payment rates from both government funded and private third-party payers for new products that we develop could have a material
adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products, and our overall financial condition.
We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing, or commercializing products before or more successfully than we do.
The development and commercialization of new pharmaceutical products is highly competitive. We face competition with respect to our current product
candidates, including ADS-5102, and will face competition with respect to any future products that we may seek to develop or commercialize from major
pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies, and biotechnology companies worldwide. For example, ADS-5102, if approved for the treatment
of LID, may face competition from various drugs approved for treatment of Parkinson’s disease, though not LID, such as Azilect (Teva Pharmaceuticals
Industries, Ltd.), Requip XL (GlaxoSmithKline plc), Mirapex ER (Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc.), Neupro Patch (UCB, Inc.), Sinemet
(Merck & Co., Inc.), Parcopa (Jazz Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), Rytary (Impax), Duopa (AbbVie), Xadago (safinamide) (Newron Pharmaceuticals S.p.A.) and
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immediate-release amantadine. ADS-5102 may also face competition from drugs currently in development for LID from a number of pharmaceutical companies,
such as Merck, Novartis, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Corp., or Osmotica, Avanir Pharmaceuticals, Neurolixis, Amarantus BioScience, Addex Pharma, and Neurim
Pharmaceuticals Ltd. Other products in late stage development for Parkinson’s disease includes product candidates from Kyowa Hakko, Acorda, Neuroderm, BialPortela CSA, Genervon Biopharmaceuticals, Pharma Two B, and Depomed.
Many of our competitors, including a number of large pharmaceutical companies that compete directly with us, have significantly greater financial
resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, and commercializing approved
products than we do. These third parties will compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical study
sites, and patient registration for clinical studies, as well as in acquiring technologies and products complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. Finally,
many of our competitors are large pharmaceutical companies that will have a greater ability to reduce prices for their competing drugs in an effort to gain market
share and undermine the value proposition that we might otherwise be able to offer to payers.
ADS-5102 will face competition from generic versions of immediate-release amantadine and potentially from other extended-release versions of
amantadine that may be in development. For example, while immediate-release amantadine is not approved for use in Parkinson’s disease for the treatment of LID,
some physicians may still prescribe it for such conditions. In addition, one competitor, Osmotica, has posted a notice on clinicaltrials.gov regarding its conduct of
two Phase 3 clinical trials of extended-release amantadine for LID.
If we are unable to obtain orphan exclusivity for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, our business could be substantially harmed.
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a drug product as an orphan drug if it is a drug or biologic intended to treat a rare disease or
condition. Generally, if a drug product with an orphan drug designation receives the first marketing approval for the indication for which it has such designation,
the drug product is entitled to a period of marketing exclusivity, which may preclude the FDA from approving another marketing application for the same drug
product for the same therapeutic indication. The applicable period of exclusivity is up to seven (7) years in the United States. Even though we have orphan drug
designation for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, we may not be the first to obtain marketing approval. With respect to LID, both ADS-5102 and Osmotica’s
amantadine product candidate for the treatment of LID have been granted orphan drug designation. If Osmotica were to obtain regulatory approval for its product
candidate prior to ADS-5102, it would obtain orphan drug exclusivity for their product candidate and the marketing application for ADS-5102 could be delayed for
so long as Osmotica has orphan drug exclusivity for its product. The NDA for ADS-5102 for LID is currently under review by the FDA with a PDUFA date of
August 24, 2017. We are unaware of the status of the Osmotica clinical development program in LID.
Even if we are first to obtain marketing approval for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, the FDA could still subsequently approve the same drug with
the same active moiety for the same condition, if the FDA concludes that the later drug is safer, more effective, or makes a major contribution to patient care. As a
matter of law, orphan drug designation does not shorten a drug’s development or regulatory review time, nor does it give the drug any advantage in the regulatory
review or approval process.
If manufacturers obtain approval for generic versions of our products, including ADS-5102, or of products with which we compete, our business may suffer.
Under the U.S. Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, the FDA can approve an Abbreviated New Drug Application, or ANDA, for a generic version of
a branded drug without the ANDA applicant undertaking the clinical testing necessary to obtain approval to market a new drug. Generally, in place of such clinical
studies, an ANDA applicant usually needs only to submit data demonstrating that its product has the same active ingredient(s), strength, dosage form, route of
administration and that it is bioequivalent to the branded product.
The FDCA requires that an applicant for approval of a generic form of a branded drug certify either that its generic product does not infringe any of the
patents listed by the owner of the branded drug in the Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations , also known as the Orange Book, or that
those patents are not enforceable. This process is known as a paragraph IV challenge. Upon receipt of the paragraph IV notice, the owner has 45 days to bring a
patent infringement suit in federal district court against the company seeking ANDA approval of a product covered by one of the owner’s patents. The discovery,
trial, and appeals process in such suits can take several
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years. If this type of suit is commenced, the FDCA provides a 30-month stay on the FDA’s approval of the competitor’s application. This type of litigation is often
time-consuming and costly and may result in generic competition if the patents at issue are not upheld or if the generic competitor is found not to infringe the
owner’s patents. Such litigation has been commenced by Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited (“Forest”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Allergan plc
(collectively, “Allergan”) and us to enforce certain patents related to Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® . See Litigation in “Note 6 - Commitments and
Contingencies” in the accompanying “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)” for more information.
If the litigation is resolved in favor of the ANDA applicant or the challenged patent expires during the 30-month stay period, the stay is lifted and the
FDA may thereafter approve the application based on the standards for approval of ANDAs. Once an ANDA is approved by the FDA, the generic manufacturer
may market and sell the generic form of the branded drug in competition with the branded medicine.
The marketing and promotion of ADS-5102, if approved, will be limited to use in the treatment of a specific indication. If we want to expand the indications for
which this product candidate may be marketed, we will need to obtain additional regulatory approvals, which may not be granted.
In October 2016, we submitted an NDA seeking regulatory approval of ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID. If this product candidate is approved, we will
be permitted to market or promote it only for the treatment of LID and not for other uses. We are developing ADS-5102 for at least one additional indication,
treatment of walking impairment in patients with multiple sclerosis, and potentially others. In order to market and promote ADS-5102 for these additional
indications, we will need to conduct additional clinical trials that will likely be time-consuming and expensive, and to obtain regulatory approval for such uses. We
may not be successful in those efforts. If we do not obtain additional regulatory approvals, our ability to expand our business will be limited.
If our product candidates are approved for marketing and we are found to have improperly promoted unapproved uses of such products, or if physicians
misuse our products, we may be subject to restrictions on the sale or marketing of our products, significant fines, penalties, and sanctions, product liability
claims, and our image and reputation within the industry and marketplace could be harmed.
The FDA and other regulatory agencies, including regulatory authorities outside the United States, strictly regulate the marketing and promotional claims
that are made about drug products, such as ADS-5102, if approved. In particular, promotion for a product must be consistent with its labeling approved by the FDA
or by regulatory agencies in other countries. For example, if we receive marketing approval for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, the first indication we are
pursuing, we cannot prevent physicians from prescribing ADS-5102 for indications or uses that are inconsistent with the approved label. If, however, we are found
to have promoted such unapproved uses prior to the FDA’s approval for an additional indication, we may, among other consequences, receive untitled or warning
letters and become subject to significant liability, which would materially harm our business. Both the U.S. federal government and foreign regulatory authorities
have levied significant civil and criminal fines against companies and individuals for alleged improper promotion and have entered into settlement agreements with
pharmaceutical companies to limit inappropriate promotional activities. If we become the target of such an investigation or prosecution based on our marketing and
promotional practices, we could face similar sanctions, which would materially harm our business. In addition, management’s attention could be diverted from our
business operations, significant legal expenses could be incurred, and our reputation could be damaged.
Physicians’ prescribing of our products for unapproved uses may also subject us to product liability claims, to the extent such uses lead to adverse events,
side effects, or injury. Product liability claims could divert management’s attention from our core business, be expensive to defend, and result in sizable damage
awards against us that may not be covered by insurance. Furthermore, the use of our products for indications other than those approved by the FDA or regulatory
authorities outside the United States may not effectively treat such conditions, which could harm our reputation in the marketplace among physicians and patients.
Any of these events could harm our business and results of operations and cause our stock price to decline.
Our product candidates, including ADS-5102, are complex to manufacture, and manufacturing disruptions may occur that could delay the launch or
commercialization of our product candidates.
Our product candidates, including ADS-5102, include extended-release versions of existing drugs. The manufacture of extended-release versions of drugs
is more complex than the manufacture of the immediate-release v
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ersions of drugs. Notwithstanding the fact that we have validated our process, manufacturing disruptions may occur. Such problems may prevent the production of
lots that meet the specifications required for sale of the product and may be difficult and expensive to resolve. If any such issues were to arise with respect to ADS5102 or our future product candidates, our business, financial results, or stock price could be adversely affected.
Although we have completed clinical trials of ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, a clinical trial with ADS-5102 is ongoing for LID and clinical trials in other
indications are planned that could result in clinical findings not consistent with previously reported positive clinical results. This could lead us to experience
failure to receive regulatory approval, which would have a material and adverse impact on our business.
In completing our clinical trial program for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, and pursuing clinical trials in other indications for ADS-5102, we may
experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical studies that could delay or prevent our ability to receive regulatory approval or
commercialize ADS-5102, including that:
•

clinical studies may produce negative or inconclusive results or raise significant safety concerns, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to
conduct additional clinical studies or abandon product development programs;

•

even if clinical studies demonstrate statistically significant efficacy and acceptable safety, the FDA or similar authorities outside the United States may
not consider the results of our studies to be sufficient for approval of ADS-5102;

•

our clinical sites and clinical investigators may fail to comply with, or inconsistently apply, the trial protocols, regulatory requirements including Good
Clinical Practices, contractual obligations, and the rating assessments;

•

our third-party vendors, including our Contract Research Organizations (“CROs”) may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their
contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all;

•

we might have to suspend or terminate clinical studies for various reasons, including a finding that our product candidates have unanticipated serious
side effects or other unexpected characteristics or that the patients are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

•

regulators or institutional review boards may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including
noncompliance with regulatory requirements; and

•

the supply or quality of ADS-5102 or other materials necessary to conduct clinical studies may be insufficient or inadequate.

Additionally, if we are required by the FDA to conduct additional non-clinical studies, clinical studies, or other testing of ADS-5102 beyond those that we
currently contemplate, if we are unable to successfully complete clinical studies or other testing of ADS-5102, if the results of these studies or tests are not positive
or are only modestly positive, or if there are safety concerns, we may:
•

be delayed in obtaining marketing approval;

•

not obtain marketing approval at all;

•

obtain approval for indications that are not as broad as intended;

•

have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval;

•

be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or

•

be subject to restrictions on how the product is distributed, marketed, or used.

Any of these unforeseen events could impair our ability to gain approval of ADS-5102 or commercialize ADS-5102 and harm our business and results of
operations.
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We will face risks in the development of ADS-5102 for additional indications and other product candidates.
The risks relating to the development of ADS-5102 for additional indications and other product candidates are the same as, or similar to, the risks relating
to the development of ADS-5102 for LID.
If serious or other adverse side effects are identified during the development of ADS-5102 or any other product candidates, we may need to abandon our
development of that product candidate, which would materially and adversely harm our business.
Our product candidate, ADS-5102, along with our other earlier stage product candidates, are still in clinical or preclinical development. The risk of failure
during development is high. It is impossible to predict when or if any of our product candidates will demonstrate safety and efficacy sufficient to warrant
regulatory approval. Although the safety profile of amantadine, the active pharmaceutical ingredient in ADS-5102, is already characterized in the approved label
for amantadine (i.e., Symmetrel ® ), there can be no assurance that our Phase 3 program for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, our program for ADS-5102 for
walking impairment associated with multiple sclerosis or future studies in other indications, will not reveal additional safety or tolerability issues. In such an event,
we might need to delay or abandon development and potential approval of ADS-5102 entirely or for certain indications. If we are forced to delay or abandon
development of our product candidates, our business, results of operations, and financial condition will be materially and adversely harmed.
If ADS-5102 is approved by regulatory authorities, post-marketing safety issues with ADS-5102, its reference product, or other components of ADS-5102 could
decrease the potential sales of ADS-5102, result in adverse labeling changes, use restrictions, product withdrawal, or product liability litigation.
Discovery of previously unknown problems, or increased focus on a known problem, with an approved product may result in restrictions on its
permissible uses, including withdrawal of the medicine from the market.
If we or others identify additional undesirable side effects caused by ADS-5102 after approval:
•

regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, specific warnings, contraindications, or field alerts to physicians and
pharmacies;

•

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product and require us to take our approved drugs off the market;

•

we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional clinical trials, change the labeling of the product, or implement
a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMS);

•

we may have limitations on how we promote our drugs;

•

third-party payers may limit coverage or reimbursement for ADS-5102;

•

sales of ADS-5102 may decrease significantly;

•

we may be subject to litigation or product liability claims; and

•

our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product and could substantially increase our
commercialization costs and expenses, which in turn could delay or prevent us from generating significant revenue from its sale.
ADS-5102 may also be affected by the safety and tolerability of its parent drugs or drugs with similar mechanisms of action. Although amantadine, which
is a component of ADS-5102, has been used in patients for many years, newly observed toxicities or worsening of known toxicities in preclinical studies or in
subjects in clinical studies receiving amantadine, or reconsideration of known toxicities of compounds in the setting of new indications, could result in increased
regulatory scrutiny of our products and product candidates. The FDA has substantial discretion in the NDA approval process and may refuse to approve our current
NDA and any future application if the FDA concludes that the risk/benefit analysis of a potential drug treatment for a specific indication does not warrant approval.
Thus, although the
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parent drug for, or a drug related to, one of our product candidates may be approved by the FDA in a particular indication, the FDA may conclude that our product
candidate’s risk/benefit profile does not warrant approval in a different indication, and the FDA may refuse to approve our product candidate in that indication.
Such conclusion and refusal would prevent us from developing and commercializing our product candidates and severely harm our business and financial
condition. Following consumption, ADS-5102 capsules are broken down by the body, during which time the active drug and other breakdown substances are
released into the bloodstream. While these breakdown substances are generally regarded as safe, it is possible that there could be unexpected toxicity associated
with them that will cause ADS-5102 to be poorly tolerated by, or toxic to, humans. Any unexpected toxicity of, or suboptimal tolerance to, the product or product
candidates could reduce their sales of approved products and delay or prevent commercialization of our product candidates.
In addition, problems with approved products marketed by third parties that utilize the same therapeutic target or that belong to the same therapeutic class
as amantadine could adversely affect the commercialization of ADS-5102.
If a safety issue emerges post-approval, we may become subject to costly product liability litigation by our customers or their patients. Product liability
claims could divert management’s attention from our core business, be expensive to defend, and result in sizable damage awards against us that may not be
covered by insurance. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that our product candidates or products caused injuries, we will incur substantial
liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:
•

decreased demand for any product candidates or products that we may develop;

•

the inability to commercialize any products that we may develop;

•

injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

•

withdrawal of patients from clinical studies or cancellation of studies;

•

significant costs to defend the related litigation;

•

substantial monetary awards to patients; and

•

loss of revenue.

We currently hold $10.0 million in product liability insurance coverage, which may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur at our current
stage of development. Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. If and when our product candidates are approved and we launch such products commercially,
we may not be able to obtain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in amounts adequate to satisfy any liability or associated costs that may arise in the future.
These events could harm our business and results of operations and cause our stock price to decline.
The post-marketing safety risks relating to Namzaric ® and Namenda XR ® are the same as those facing ADS-5102 in the prior risk factor.
The post-marketing safety risks relating to Namzaric ® and Namenda XR ® are the same as those facing ADS-5102 in the prior risk factor.
We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that
may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.
Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we have chosen to focus on research programs and product candidates for specific
indications. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or other indications that later prove to have greater
commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our
investment in current and future research and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable
products.
If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that
product candidate through collaboration, licensing, or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been advantageous for us to retain sole
development and commercialization rights.
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Risks related to our financial condition and need for additional capital
If we do not have adequate funds to cover all of our development and commercial activities, we may have to raise additional capital or curtail or cease
operations.
While we are a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company and do not currently market any products, if approved, we expect to commercialize ADS-5102 in
2017. The completion of the development and the potential commercialization of our product candidates, including ADS-5102, should they receive approval, will
require substantial funds. In addition, funds are required for the continued operation of our business, as we seek to advance additional product candidates through
the research and clinical development to regulatory approval and commercialization. As of March 31, 2017 , we had approximately $122.2 million in cash, cash
equivalents, and investments. We believe that our available cash, cash equivalents, and investments will be sufficient to fund our anticipated level of operations for
at least the next 12 months, but there can be no assurance that this will be the case.
We have financed our operations primarily through proceeds from our license agreement with Allergan, public and private equity offerings, and, to a
lesser extent, government grants, venture debt, and benefits from tax credits made available under a federal stimulus program supporting drug development. We
have devoted substantially all of our efforts to research and development, including clinical studies, of our product candidates, including ADS-5102 for the
treatment of LID in patients with Parkinson’s disease. We anticipate that our cash requirements will increase substantially as we:
•

enhance operational, financial, and information management systems and hire more personnel, including personnel to support development of our
product candidates and, if a product candidate is approved, our commercial operations;

•

commercialize ADS-5102, if it is approved by the FDA, including establishing distribution, marketing, and sales capabilities;

•

manufacture ADS-5102 for commercial use, if approved by the FDA;

•

investigate ADS-5102 in preclinical and clinical trials for the treatment of walking impairment in patients with MS, and potentially other indications;

•

conduct preclinical and clinical trials of ADS-4101 for the treatment of epilepsy (partial onset seizures);

•

seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates that successfully complete clinical studies;

•

continue the research, development, and manufacture of our current product candidates; and

•

seek to discover or in-license additional product candidates.

If we do not have adequate funds to support these activities, our business opportunities could be hindered.
If we need additional funds to operate our business and if we cannot raise additional capital when needed, or if additional capital is not available to us on
favorable terms, our stockholders may be adversely affected or our business may be harmed.
If we need additional funds to support out business and additional funding is not available on favorable terms or at all, we may need to delay or reduce the
scope of our research and clinical development programs or commercialization efforts. We do not have any committed external source of funds or other support for
our development efforts other than our license agreement with Allergan, which may be terminated by Allergan upon delivery of notice. We expect to finance future
cash needs through a combination of public or private equity offerings, debt financings, royalty financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing
arrangements, asset sales, and other marketing and distribution arrangements. Additional financing may not be available to us when we need it or it may not be
available on favorable terms. If we raise additional capital through royalty financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, or licensing arrangements with third
parties, we may have to relinquish certain valuable rights to our product candidates, technologies, future revenue streams, or research programs or grant licenses on
terms that may not be favorable to us. If we raise additional capital through equity offerings, the ownership interest of our existing stockholders will be diluted, and
the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our stockholders’ rights. If we raise additional capital through debt
financing, in addition to the repayment of principal and interest on
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negotiated terms, we may be subject to covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital
expenditures or declaring dividends. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of, or suspend one or
more of our clinical studies or research and development programs or our commercialization efforts.
Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and could cause our operating results to fall
below expectations.
Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future, which makes it difficult for us to predict our future operating results.
Any future revenue will depend on the successful commercialization and sales of our product candidates, including ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID, if
approved, the payment of royalties to us from Allergan under terms of our licensing agreement regarding Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® , or the establishment of
potential future collaboration and license agreements, if any, and the achievement of any upfront or milestone payments provided thereunder. Furthermore, our
operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of other factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict, including:
•

the level of demand for our products, should any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, which may vary significantly as they are
launched and compete for position in the marketplace;

•

pricing and reimbursement policies with respect to our products candidates, if approved, and the competitive response from existing and potential
future therapeutic approaches that compete with our product candidates;

•

the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, which may vary due to a number of factors, including the terms of our agreements with contract
manufacturing organizations, or CMOs;

•

the timing, cost, level of investment, and success or failure of research and development activities relating to our preclinical and clinical-stage product
candidates, which may change from time to time;

•

expenditures that we may incur to acquire and develop additional product candidates and technologies;

•

the timing and success or failure of clinical studies for competing product candidates, or any other change in the competitive landscape of our industry,
including consolidation among our competitors or partners;

•

the timing and magnitude of upfront and milestone payments under any potential future collaboration and licensing agreements;

•

future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies; and

•

changing or volatile U.S., European, and global economic environments.

The cumulative effects of these factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating results. As a result,
comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Investors should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future
performance. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or investors for any
period. If our operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide to the market, or if the forecasts we
provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline
could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated operating results and/or earnings guidance that we may provide.
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Risks related to our reliance on third parties
We rely on third-party contract manufacturing organizations to manufacture and supply our product candidates, including ADS-5102, for us. If one of our
suppliers or manufacturers fails to perform adequately or fulfill our needs, we may be required to incur significant costs and devote significant efforts to find
new suppliers or manufacturers. We may also face delays in the development, commercialization, and supply of our product candidates.
We currently have limited experience in, and we do not own facilities for, clinical and commercial manufacturing of our product candidates and we rely
upon third-party contract manufacturing organizations to manufacture and supply drug product for our clinical studies and, upon regulatory approval, to meet
potential future commercial demand. The manufacture of pharmaceutical products in compliance with the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices, or
cGMPs, requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls.
Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often encounter difficulties in production, including difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control,
including stability of the product candidate and quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as compliance with strictly enforced cGMP
requirements, other federal and state regulatory requirements, and foreign regulations. If our manufacturers were to encounter any of these difficulties or otherwise
fail to comply with their obligations to us or under applicable regulations, our ability to gain approval of the NDA for ADS-5102 or to provide study drugs in our
clinical trials and future commercial supply would be jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical study materials or commercial product could
cause delays in our clinical programs, harm our ability to gain approval from regulatory authorities, and potentially disrupt patient access to our future approved
products. These events would substantially harm our business, reputation and stock price.
All third-party manufacturers of our product candidates and ingredients thereof must comply with cGMP requirements enforced by the FDA through its
facilities inspection program. These requirements include, among other things, quality control, quality assurance, and the maintenance of records and
documentation. Manufacturers of our product candidates may be unable to comply with these cGMP requirements and with other FDA, state and foreign regulatory
requirements. The FDA or similar foreign regulatory agencies may also implement new standards at any time, or change their interpretation and enforcement of
existing standards for manufacture, packaging, or testing of products. We have little control over our manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and
standards. A failure to comply with these requirements may result in fines and civil penalties, suspension of production, suspension or delay in product approval,
product seizure or recall, or withdrawal of product approval. If the safety of any product supplied is compromised due to our manufacturers’ failure to adhere to
applicable laws or for other reasons, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our products and we may be held liable
for any injuries sustained as a result. Any of these factors could cause a delay of clinical studies, regulatory submissions, approvals, commercialization or supply of
our product candidates, entail higher costs, impair our reputation, and potentially disrupt patient access or our future approved products.
We rely on a single source third-party contract manufacturing organization for the manufacture and supply of our product candidates, including ADS-5102.
We currently rely on single source suppliers for our product candidates, including ADS-5102, and continue to seek additional long-term supply
agreements. A failure of our single source manufacturer or our failure to qualify at least one other manufacturer on a timely basis and validate the manufacturing
process employed at that CMO would delay approval of an NDA and commercialization of our product candidates, including ADS-5102. Although we believe
alternative sources of supply exist, the number of third-party suppliers with the necessary manufacturing and regulatory expertise and facilities is limited, and it
could be expensive and take a significant amount of time to arrange and negotiate acceptable long-term contracts, which would adversely affect our business. New
suppliers of any product candidate would be required to be qualified under applicable regulatory requirements, including demonstration of bioequivalence of the
product made at the new supplier, and would need to have sufficient rights under applicable intellectual property laws to the method of manufacturing the product
candidate. Obtaining the necessary FDA approvals or other qualifications under applicable regulatory requirements and ensuring non-infringement of third-party
intellectual property rights could result in a significant interruption of supply and could require the new manufacturer to bear significant additional costs, which
may be passed on to us. Qualifying and negotiating long-term contracts with manufacturers and providers of packaging services is a lengthy process. If at any time,
one or more of our qualified contract organizations were not able to manufacture our drug substance or drug product or provide the requisite services, our business
and financial condition would be materially adversely affected.
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If we decide to enter into future collaborations or partnerships, we will likely not be able to control all aspects of the development and commercialization of our
product candidates, including ADS-5102. This lack of control could subject us to additional risks that could harm our business.
Collaborations or license agreements involving our current or future products are subject to numerous risks, which may include that:
•

partners have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to collaborations;

•

partners may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or renew development or
commercialization programs based on clinical study results, changes in their strategic focus due to the acquisition of competitive products, availability
of funding, or other external factors, such as a business combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

•

partners may delay clinical studies, provide insufficient funding for a clinical study program, stop a clinical study, abandon a product candidate, repeat
or conduct new clinical studies, or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

•

partners could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our products or product
candidates;

•

a partner with marketing, manufacturing, and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources to or otherwise not
perform satisfactorily in carrying out these activities;

•

we could grant exclusive rights to our partners that would prevent us from collaborating with others;

•

Allergan and future partners may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprietary
information in a way that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary
information or expose us to potential liability;

•

Allergan and future partners may not aggressively or adequately pursue litigation against ANDA filers or may settle such litigation on unfavorable
terms, and as Allergan substantially controls the current ANDA litigation and terms of settlement and has different economic interests than ours,
Allergan may grant licenses to generic manufacturers that permit them to make and sell generic versions of Namenda XR ® , which would negatively
impact the royalties we receive under our license with Allergan;

•

disputes may arise between us and a partner that causes the delay or termination of the research, development, or commercialization of our current or
future products or that results in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources;

•

agreements may be terminated, sometimes at-will, without penalty, and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further
development or commercialization of the applicable current or future products;

•

partners may own or co-own intellectual property covering our products that results from our collaborating with them, and in such cases, we would not
have the exclusive right to commercialize such intellectual property; and

•

a partner’s sales and marketing activities or other operations may not be in compliance with applicable laws resulting in civil or criminal proceedings.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the
completion of these trials.
We do not independently conduct clinical studies of our product candidates. Instead, we rely on third parties, such as CROs, clinical data management
organizations, medical institutions, and clinical investigators to perform this function. Our reliance on these third parties for clinical development activities reduces
our control over these activities, but does not relieve us of our responsibilities. For example, the FDA requires us to comply with standards, commonly
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referred to as Good Clinical Practice, for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical studies to assure that data and reported results are credible and
accurate and that the rights, integrity, and confidentiality of patients in clinical studies are protected, even though we are not in control of these processes. These
third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their
contractual duties, meet expected deadlines, or conduct our clinical studies in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able
to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, regulatory approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully
commercialize our product candidates. The FDA may inspect certain of our clinical trial sites from the ADS-5102 development program for Good Clinical Practice
compliance and data integrity prior to being able approve, if at all, our NDA for LID. Adverse findings in such inspections could result in the issuance of a
Complete Response Letter to our NDA.
We also rely on other third parties to store and distribute supplies for our clinical studies. Any performance failure on the part of our existing or future
distributors could delay clinical development or regulatory approval of our product candidates or commercialization of our products, producing additional losses
and depriving us of potential product revenue.
Risks related to Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ®
Under our license agreement with Allergan, if Allergan fails to successfully commercialize Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® for any reason or if the license
agreement with Allergan is terminated, the potential royalties we expect to receive under our license agreement with Allergan may not occur or be minimal,
and would have a negative impact on our revenue potential and harm our business.
In November 2012, we entered into a license agreement with Allergan pursuant to which we granted Allergan a right to develop and commercialize
Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® in the United States. Under that agreement, we expect to receive future royalties from Allergan on the net sales of Namenda XR ®
and Namzaric ® , starting in 2018 and 2020, respectively. If Allergan fails to successfully commercialize Namenda XR ® and, more importantly, Namzaric ® , on
which we are eligible to receive double digits percentage royalties for any reason, we may not receive such future royalties or receive minimal amounts, and our
business will be harmed.
Under the license agreement, we are reliant on Allergan to commercialize Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® and in that capacity Allergan has the discretion
to:
•

determine the efforts and resources that they apply towards commercialization;

•

market, manufacture, and distribute the licensed products or to otherwise not perform satisfactorily in carrying out these activities; and

•

to terminate the agreement without penalty and, such termination, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development or
commercialization of the applicable current or future products.

Under the license agreement, Allergan substantially controls the intellectual property rights subject to the agreement and the current ANDA litigation and
potential settlement thereof, and has economic interests different from ours. Accordingly, Allergan may manage the litigation and settlements on terms which
may have a material and negative impact on our business.
We and Allergan are currently involved in ANDA litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights against generic manufacturers, who are seeking to
bring generic versions of Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® to the market. See Litigation in “Note 6 - Commitments and Contingencies” in the accompanying “Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)”. Under the terms of that license agreement, Allergan has the right to enforce such intellectual property rights and
control such litigation. Specifically, Allergan has the discretion to:
•

maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprietary information in a way that gives rise to actual or
threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential liability; and

•

not adequately pursue litigation against ANDA filers or settle such litigation on unfavorable terms, and as Allergan substantially controls the current
ANDA litigation and terms of settlement and has different
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economic interests than ours, Allergan may grant licenses to generic manufacturers that permit them to make and sell generic versions of Namenda
XR ® , which would negatively impact the royalties we receive under our license with Allergan.
We have a right to participate in, but not control, such litigations. If Allergan decides not to enforce the intellectual property rights licensed under the
agreement or the litigation is resolved in favor of the generic manufacturers or if the FDA approves the ANDA filed by the generic manufacturers, such
manufacturers may be able to market and sell the generic form of the branded drug in competition with Namenda XR ® and Namzaric ® . This could harm our
business.
Risks related to the operation of our business
Our future success depends on our ability to retain our chief executive officer and other key executives and to attract, retain, and motivate qualified personnel.
We are highly dependent on our chief executive officer and the other members of our executive and scientific teams. Our executives may terminate their
employment with us at any time. The loss of the services of any of these people could impede the achievement of our research, development, and
commercialization objectives. We maintain “key person” insurance for our chief executive officer, but not for any other executives or employees. Any insurance
proceeds we may receive under this “key person” insurance would not adequately compensate us for the loss of our chief executive officer’s services.
Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing, and commercial personnel will also be critical to our success. We may not be able to
attract and retain these personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel.
We also experience competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions. In addition, we rely on consultants and
advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and development and commercialization strategies. Our consultants and
advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their
availability to us.
We expect to expand our development and sales and marketing capabilities, and, as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which
could disrupt our operations.
As of March 31, 2017 , we had 73 full-time equivalent employees. Over the next several years, we expect to experience significant growth in the number
of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly in sales and marketing. To manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement
and improve our managerial, operational, informational, and financial systems, expand our facilities, and continue to recruit and train additional qualified
personnel. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management team in managing a company with such anticipated growth, we
may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified personnel. The physical expansion of our operations
may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of
our business plans or disrupt our operations.
We are an “emerging growth company,” and we cannot be certain whether the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will
make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act, which was enacted in April 2012. For as
long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other
public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years, although circumstances could cause us to lose that
status earlier. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of our initial
public offering, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of
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at least $1.0 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates
exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior
three-year period. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our
common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may suffer or be more volatile.
Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.
Our operations could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, floods, hurricanes, fires, extreme weather conditions,
medical epidemics, and other natural or manmade disasters or business interruptions. The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm our
operations and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. Our corporate headquarters is located in California and certain clinical sites for our product
candidates, operations of our existing and future partners, and suppliers are or will be located near major earthquake faults and fire zones. The ultimate impact on
us, our significant partners, suppliers, and our general infrastructure of being located near major earthquake faults and fire zones and being consolidated in certain
geographical areas is unknown, but our operations and financial condition could suffer in the event of a major earthquake, fire, or other natural or manmade
disaster.
Any future operations or business arrangements with entities outside the United States present risks that could materially adversely affect our business.
If we obtain approval to commercialize any approved products or utilize CMOs outside of the United States, a variety of risks associated with
international operations could materially adversely affect our business. If any product candidates that we may develop are approved for commercialization outside
the United States, we will be subject to additional risks related to entering into international business relationships, including:
•

different regulatory requirements for drug approvals in foreign countries;

•

reduced protection for intellectual property rights;

•

unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers, and regulatory requirements;

•

economic weakness, including inflation or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

•

difficulties in assuring compliance with foreign corrupt practices laws;

•

compliance with tax, employment, immigration, and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

•

foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

•

foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenue, and other obligations incident to doing
business in another country;

•

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

•

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

•

business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism, or natural disasters, including earthquakes, hurricanes or
typhoons, floods, and fires.

Our internal computer systems, or those of our CROs, CMOs, CSO, or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, which could
result in a material disruption of our drug development programs.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our CROs, CMOs, and other contractors and consultants are
vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication and electrical failures. While we have
not experienced any such system failure, accident, or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it
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could result in a material disruption of our drug development programs or commercialization efforts. For example, the loss of clinical study data from completed or
ongoing clinical studies for any of our product candidates could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or
reproduce the data. While we back-up our internal computer systems periodically and store such data off-site or in the cloud, we can offer no assurance that such
off-site storage of data will allow us to continue our business without interruptions to our operations, which could result in a material disruption of our drug
development programs or commercialization efforts. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of or damage to our data or
applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further development of our product candidates
could be delayed.
Risks generally associated with a company-wide implementation of information systems, including an enterprise resource planning (ERP) system, may
adversely affect our business and results of operations or the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting.
In support of our anticipated growth and future commercial-stage operations, we intend to select and implement a number of company-wide information
systems, including adding new functionality to our enterprise resource planning (“ERP”), and other similar systems. Many of these systems are complex and their
successful and timely implementation is not assured, requires significant capital expenditures, and can be disruptive to our business operations. We recently
implemented a new ERP system in addition to a new human resource information system (“HRIS”). These projects required and may continue to require
investment of capital and human resources and the attention of many employees who would otherwise be focused on other aspects of our business. Any
deficiencies in the design and implementation of the new ERP and HRIS system could result in potentially much higher costs than we had incurred and could
adversely affect our ability to develop and launch solutions, provide services, fulfill contractual obligations, file reports with the SEC in a timely manner, operate
our business, or otherwise affect our controls environment. Any of these consequences could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition.
Risks related to government regulation
The regulatory approval process is expensive, time consuming, and uncertain and may prevent us or our collaboration partners from obtaining approvals for
the commercialization of some or all of our product candidates.
The research, development, manufacturing, quality control, labeling, approval, safety, effectiveness, storage, record keeping, reporting, selling, import,
export, advertising, promotion, marketing, and distribution of drug products are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory authorities in the
United States, and by regulatory authorities in other countries, with different regulations from country to country. Neither we nor our collaboration partners are
permitted to market our product candidates in the United States or other countries until we receive FDA approval of an NDA. We have not received marketing
approval for any of our product candidates. Obtaining approval of an NDA or analogous marketing authorization outside of the United States can be a lengthy,
expensive, and uncertain process.
To receive approval to commercialize any of our product candidates in the United States, we and our collaboration partners must demonstrate with
substantial evidence from adequate and well-controlled clinical studies, and to the satisfaction of the FDA, that such product candidates are safe and effective for
their intended uses. Results from preclinical studies and clinical studies can be interpreted in different ways. Even if we and our collaboration partners believe the
preclinical or clinical data for our product candidates are promising, such data may not be sufficient to support approval by the FDA. Administering any of our
product candidates to humans may produce undesirable side effects, which could interrupt, delay, or cause suspension of clinical studies of our product candidates
and result in the denial of approval of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications.
FDA approval of an NDA is not guaranteed, and the approval process is expensive and may take several years. The FDA also has substantial discretion in
the approval process. Despite the time and expense we invest, failure can occur at any stage, and we could encounter problems that require us to repeat clinical
studies, perform additional preclinical studies and clinical studies, or abandon development and commercialization of a product candidate altogether. The number
of preclinical studies and clinical studies that will be required for FDA approval varies depending on, among other factors, the product candidate, the disease or
condition that the product candidate is designed to address, and the
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regulations applicable to any particular product candidate. The FDA can delay, limit, or deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons, including, but not
limited to:
•

disagreement with the design or implementation of our clinical trials;

•

failure of clinical trials to show the level of statistical significance or clinical meaningfulness needed for approval;

•

failure to demonstrate that a product candidate is safe or effective;

•

insufficient data from preclinical and clinical studies to support an application;

•

a finding by an institutional review board (IRB), Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB), Data Monitoring Committee (DMC), or the FDA that the
clinical trial exposes subjects or patients to an unacceptable health risk;

•

disapproval of our or our third-party manufacturer’s processes or facilities; or

•

changes to FDA’s approval policies or regulations.

If any of our product candidates fails to demonstrate safety and efficacy in clinical studies or does not gain regulatory approval, our business and results
of operations will be materially and adversely harmed.
If the FDA concludes that our product candidates do not satisfy the requirements for approval under the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if
the requirements for approval under Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for our products will likely take significantly longer, cost
significantly more, and entail significantly greater complications and risks than anticipated, and in any case may not be successful. Similar obstacles may arise
in other countries.
We are developing our current and future product candidates, including ADS-5102, with the expectation that they will be eligible for approval through the
Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway. Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA allows an NDA to rely in part on the FDA’s prior conclusions regarding the safety and
effectiveness of an approved drug product, or reference listed drug (RLD). Use of the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway could reduce the time required for the
development programs of our product candidates by, for example, potentially decreasing the amount of preclinical and/or clinical data specific to a product
candidate that we would need to generate in order to obtain FDA approval. If the FDA does not allow us to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway as
anticipated, we may need to conduct additional clinical trials, provide additional data and information, and meet additional standards for product approval. If this
were to occur, the time and financial resources required to obtain FDA approval for our product candidates, and the complications and risks associated with
regulatory approval would likely substantially increase. Moreover, our inability to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway may result in competitive
products reaching the market more quickly than our product candidates, which would adversely impact our competitive position and prospects. Even if we are able
to utilize the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, there is no guarantee that utilizing this pathway will ultimately lead to faster product development or earlier
approval for ADS-5102 or any other product candidate that we may attempt to develop and commercialize.
An NDA submitted through the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for a drug product with an active moiety that has been previously approved in
another product (e.g., amantadine) may be entitled to three years of regulatory exclusivity if the NDA contains data from clinical investigations (other than
bioavailability or bioequivalence studies) conducted by or for the sponsor and deemed essential to FDA’s approval of the NDA. This regulatory exclusivity
precludes, among other things, approval of another 505(b)(2) NDA for a product with the same conditions of approval. Although obtaining such exclusivity for our
product candidates could provide a competitive benefit for us, the availability of such exclusivity to competitors, if their products were to be approved before our
product candidates, presents a risk. If a competing product were approved in our target indication and granted three years of exclusivity, and if the FDA were to
find that our product candidate does not differ with respect to the relevant conditions of approval of the approved competing product, then approval of the 505(b)
(2) NDA for our product candidate in the target indication may be delayed for as long as the competitor has exclusivity.
With a Section 505(b)(2) NDA, we also must certify to the FDA concerning any patents listed for the RLD in the Orange Book. A certification that our
product candidate does not infringe the RLD’s Orange Book-listed patents, or
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that such patents are invalid (known as a paragraph iv certification) would require providing notice of that certification to the patent holder and the sponsor of the
RLD NDA, and we could then be challenged in court by the patent owner or the holder of the approved NDA for the RLD. If such a lawsuit were to be filed within
a specified timeframe, it would lead to a 30-month period during which FDA would be precluded from approving our NDA.
Even if we receive regulatory approval for a particular product candidate, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory
review, which may result in significant additional expense and subject us to penalties if we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements.
Once regulatory approval has been granted for a particular product candidate, the manufacturing, marketing, and further development of the approved
product are subject to continual review by the FDA and/or analogous non-U.S. regulatory authorities. Any regulatory approval that we or our collaboration partners
receive for our product candidates will be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be marketed, and may be subject to requirements
for potentially costly post-marketing follow-up studies to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product. In addition, if the FDA and/or analogous non-U.S.
regulatory authorities approve any of our product candidates, we will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements with regard to the labeling,
packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, distribution, advertising, promotion, tracking, recordkeeping, and periodic reporting for our products. Further, we and
our contract manufacturers of our drug products are required to comply with cGMP regulations, which include requirements related to quality control and quality
assurance and maintenance of records and documentation. Regulatory authorities must approve manufacturing facilities before they can be used to manufacture our
drug products, and these facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with cGMP
regulations. Certain changes to the manufacturing processes for our product candidates, if approved, would also be subject to pre-approval by regulatory
authorities. In addition, if we or a third party discover previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency,
or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory authority may impose restrictions on that product, its manufacturer, or us, including
but not limited to requiring withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing. If we, our product candidates or the manufacturing facilities
for our product candidates fail to comply with regulatory requirements of the FDA and/or applicable non-U.S. regulatory authorities, we could be subject to
administrative or other sanctions, including:
•

warning letters or untitled letters;

•

civil or criminal penalties and fines;

•

injunctions;

•

suspension, variation, or withdrawal of regulatory approval;

•

suspension of ongoing clinical studies;

•

voluntary or mandatory product recalls;

•

requirements for dissemination of corrective information or modifications to promotional materials;

•

refusal to approve pending applications for marketing approval of new drugs or supplements to approved applications filed by us;

•

refusal to permit import or export of our products;

•

restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or

•

seizure or detention of our products.

Regulatory requirements and policies may change, and we may need to comply with additional laws and regulations that are enacted. We cannot predict
the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or in other
countries. If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market, or continue to market, our future products and our business
may suffer.
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Changes in healthcare law and implementing regulations, including government restrictions on pricing and reimbursement, as well as healthcare policy and
other healthcare payer cost-containment initiatives, may negatively impact our ability to generate revenues from or could limit or prevent our product
candidates’ commercial success.
In the United States, there have been and we expect there will continue to be a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system that
could affect our future revenue and profitability and the future revenue and profitability of our potential customers. Federal and state lawmakers regularly propose
and, at times, enact legislation that would result in significant changes to the healthcare system, some of which are intended to contain or reduce the costs of
medical products and services. For example, in March 2010, the PPACA was passed, which has substantially changed how healthcare is financed by both
governmental and private insurers, and has significantly impacted the U.S. pharmaceutical industry. Details of changes under the PPACA are discussed in the
business heading “Other healthcare regulations” in Part I, Item 1, of our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Legislative and regulatory changes to the PPACA remain possible and appear likely in the 115th United States Congress and under the Trump
Administration. We expect that the PPACA, as currently enacted or as it may be amended in the future, and other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted
in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our industry generally and on our ability to maintain or increase sales of our existing products. There have
also been proposals to impose federal rebates on Medicare Part D drugs, requiring federally-mandated rebates on all drugs dispensed to Medicare Part D enrollees
or on only those drugs dispensed to certain groups of lower income beneficiaries. If any of these proposals are adopted, they could result in our owing additional
rebates, which could have a negative impact on revenues from sales of our products.
The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations, and other payers of healthcare services to contain or reduce
costs of healthcare may, among other things, adversely affect:
•

our ability to set a price we believe is fair for our products;

•

our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability; and

•

the availability of capital.

Our ability to commercialize our products successfully, and to attract commercialization partners for our products, will depend in significant part on the
availability of adequate financial coverage and reimbursement from third party payers, including, in the U.S., governmental payers such as the Medicare and
Medicaid programs, managed care organizations and private health insurers. Details of these considerations are discussed in the business heading “Other healthcare
regulations” in Part I, Item 1, of our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
If we fail to comply with our reporting and payment obligations under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program or other governmental pricing programs that we
may join if we successfully commercialize any of our product candidates, we could be subject to additional reimbursement requirements, penalties, sanctions
and fines, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
We intend to participate in and then will have certain price reporting obligations to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program and other governmental pricing
programs.
Under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, a manufacturer is required to pay a rebate to each state Medicaid program for its covered outpatient drugs that
are dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries and paid for by a state Medicaid program as a condition of having federal funds being made available to the states for our
drugs under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. Those rebates are based on pricing data reported by the manufacturer on a monthly and quarterly basis to the Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, the federal agency that administers the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. These data include the average
manufacturer price and, in the case of innovator products, the best price for each drug which, in general, represents the lowest price available from the
manufacturer to any entity in the United States in any pricing structure, calculated to include all sales and associated rebates, discounts and other price concessions.
The PPACA made significant changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, as discussed under the heading “Other healthcare regulations” in Part I,
Item 1, of our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K. On February 1, 2016, CMS issued final regulations to implement the changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate
program under the PPACA. These regulations became effective on April 1, 2016. The issuance of regulations and coverage expansion by various
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governmental agencies relating to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program may increase our costs and the complexity of compliance and could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations if we participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program if and when we successfully commercialize any of our product
candidates.
Federal law requires that any company that participates in the Medicaid Drug Rebate program also participate in the Public Health Service’s 340B drug
pricing program in order for federal funds to be available for the manufacturer’s drugs under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. The 340B program requires
participating manufacturers to agree to charge no more than the 340B “ceiling price” for the manufacturer’s covered outpatient drugs to a variety of community
health clinics and other entities that receive health services grants from the Public Health Service, as well as hospitals that serve a disproportionate share of lowincome patients. The PPACA expanded the list of covered entities to include certain free-standing cancer hospitals, critical access hospitals, rural referral centers
and sole community hospitals, but exempts “orphan drugs” from the ceiling price requirements for these covered entities. The 340B ceiling price is calculated
using a statutory formula based on the average manufacturer price and rebate amount for the covered outpatient drug as calculated under the Medicaid Drug Rebate
program. Changes to the definition of average manufacturer price and the Medicaid rebate amount under the Healthcare Reform Act and CMS’s final regulations
implementing those changes also could affect the 340B ceiling price calculations for any of our product candidates that we successfully commercialize and could
negatively impact our results of operations.
The PPACA obligates the Secretary of the HHS to update the agreement that manufacturers must sign to participate in the 340B program to obligate a
manufacturer to offer the 340B price to covered entities if the manufacturer makes the drug available to any other purchaser at any price and to report to the
government the ceiling prices for its drugs. The Health Resources and Services Administration, or HRSA, recently initiated the process of updating the agreement
with participating manufacturers. The PPACA also obligates the Secretary of the HHS to create regulations and processes to improve the integrity of the 340B
program. In 2015, HRSA issued proposed omnibus guidance that addresses many aspects of the 340B program, and in August 2016, HRSA issued a proposed
regulation regarding an administrative dispute resolution process for the 340B program. It is unclear when or whether the guidance or regulation will be released in
final form under the Trump Administration. On January 5, 2017, HRSA issued a final regulation regarding the calculation of 340B ceiling price and the imposition
of civil monetary penalties on manufacturers that knowingly and intentionally overcharge covered entities. The March 6, 2017 effective date of this regulation is
subject to a temporary delay directed by the Trump Administration, and the regulation could be subject to further delay or other modification by the Trump
Administration. Implementation of this final rule and the issuance of any other final regulations and guidance could affect our obligations under the 340B program
in ways we cannot anticipate, if and when we successfully commercialize any of our product candidates and if we participate in the 340B program. In addition,
legislation may be introduced that, if passed, would further expand the 340B program to additional covered entities or would require participating manufacturers to
agree to provide 340B discounted pricing on drugs used in an inpatient setting.
Pricing and rebate calculations vary across products and programs, are complex, and are often subject to interpretation by the reporting manufacturer,
governmental or regulatory agencies and the courts. In the case of Medicaid pricing data, if we join the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and become aware that our
reporting for a prior quarter was incorrect, or has changed as a result of recalculation of the pricing data, we will be obligated to resubmit the corrected data for up
to three years after those data originally were due. Such restatements and recalculations would increase our costs for complying with the laws and regulations
governing the Medicaid Drug Rebate program and could result in an overage or underage in our rebate liability for past quarters. Price recalculations also may
affect the ceiling price at which we would be required to offer any of our product candidates that we successfully commercialize under the 340B drug discount
program.
We will be liable for errors associated with any submission of pricing data. In addition to retroactive rebates and the potential for 340B program refunds,
if we are found to have knowingly submitted any false price information to the government, we may be liable for civil monetary penalties in the amount of
$178,156 per item of false information. Our failure to submit the required price data on a timely basis could result in a civil monetary penalty of $17,816 per day
for each day the information is late beyond the due date. Such failure also could be grounds for CMS to terminate our Medicaid drug rebate agreement, pursuant to
which we will participate in the Medicaid program if we join the program if and when we successfully commercialize any of our product candidates. In the event
that CMS terminates our rebate agreement, federal payments may not be available under Medicaid or Medicare Part B for any of our product candidates that we
successfully commercialize.
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CMS and the OIG have pursued manufacturers that were alleged to have failed to report these data to the government in a timely manner. Governmental
agencies may also make changes in program interpretations, requirements or conditions of participation, some of which may have implications for amounts
previously estimated or paid. We cannot assure you that our submissions, if we participate in the federal programs if and when we successfully commercialize any
of our product candidates, will not be found by CMS to be incomplete or incorrect.
In order to be eligible to have any of our product candidates that we successfully commercialize paid for with federal funds under the Medicaid and
Medicare Part B programs and purchased by the Department of Veterans Affairs (“VA”), Department of Defense, Public Health Service, and Coast Guard (the
“Big Four agencies”), and certain federal grantees, we are required to participate in the VA Federal Supply Schedule (“FSS”) pricing program, established under
Section 603 of the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992. Under this program, we are obligated to make any of our product candidates that we successfully
commercialize that meet the statutory definition of “covered drug” (biologics and single and innovator multiple source drugs) available for procurement on an FSS
contract and charge a price to the Big Four agencies that is no higher than the Federal Ceiling Price (“FCP”), which is a price calculated pursuant to a statutory
formula. The FCP is derived from a calculated price point called the “non-federal average manufacturer price” (“Non-FAMP”), which we will be required to
calculate and report to the VA on a quarterly and annual basis. Pursuant to applicable law, knowing provision of false information in connection with a Non-FAMP
filing can subject a manufacturer to penalties of $178,156 for each item of false information. The FSS contract also contains extensive disclosure and certification
requirements.
Under Section 703 of the National Defense Authorization Act for FY 2008, we will be required to pay quarterly rebates on utilization of innovator
products that are dispensed through the Tricare network pharmacies to Tricare beneficiaries. The rebates are calculated as the difference between the annual NonFAMP and FCP. If we overcharge the government in connection with the FSS contract or Tricare Retail Pharmacy Rebate Program, whether due to a misstated
FCP or otherwise, we are required to refund the difference to the government. Failure to make necessary disclosures and/or to identify contract overcharges can
result in allegations against us under the False Claims Act and other laws and regulations. Unexpected refunds to the government, and any response to government
investigation or enforcement action, would be expensive and time-consuming, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations, and growth prospects if we successfully commercialize any of our product candidates.
If we fail to comply with healthcare regulations, we could face substantial penalties and our business, operations, and financial condition could be adversely
affected.
Healthcare providers, physicians, distributors, and third-party payers play a primary role in the distribution, recommendation, and prescription of any
pharmaceutical product for which we obtain marketing approval. Our arrangements with third-party payers and customers expose us to broadly applicable federal
and state fraud and abuse and other laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements through which we market, sell and distribute
any products for which we have obtained or may obtain marketing approval. The laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include:
•

the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting, or
receiving any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward
either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order, lease, arrangement or recommendation of, any good, facility, item, or service for which
payment may be made, in whole or in part, under federal healthcare programs, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Liability under the AntiKickback Statute may be established without a person or entity having actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the
government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent
claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act;

•

the federal civil False Claims Act, which prohibits individuals or entities from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented,
false or fraudulent claims for payment of government funds, or knowingly using false records or statements, to obtain payment from the federal
government. In recent years, several pharmaceutical and other health care companies have faced enforcement actions under the False Claims Act for,
among other things, allegedly submitting false or misleading pricing information to government healthcare programs, providing free product to
customers with the expectation that the
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customers would bill federal programs, product and patient assistance programs, including reimbursement services, and marketing products for offlabel or unapproved uses;
•

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of
the payer (e.g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing, or covering up by any trick or device a material fact or making
any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items, or services relating to healthcare matters.
HIPAA also imposes obligations on certain entities, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and
transmission of individually identifiable health information. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical
Health Act of 2009 (HITECH), and their respective implementing regulations, also governs the conduct of certain electronic healthcare transactions
and protects the security and privacy of protected health information;

•

the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, being implemented as the Open Payments Program, which requires manufacturers of drugs, devices,
biologicals, and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain
exceptions) to report annually to the federal government information related to payments and other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to
include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists, and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, as well as certain ownership and investment interests held
by physicians and their immediate family members; and

•

analogous state laws and regulations, such as anti-kickback, and false claims laws, which may be broader in scope and apply to items or services
reimbursed by any third-party payer, including commercial insurers. Several states also require pharmaceutical companies to report expenses relating
to the marketing and promotion of pharmaceutical products in those states and to report gifts and payments to individual health care providers in those
states. Some of these states also prohibit certain marketing-relating activities, including the provision of gifts, meals, or other items to certain health
care providers. In addition, several states require pharmaceutical companies to implement compliance programs or marketing codes.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject
to penalties, including civil, criminal and/or administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid,
and other federal healthcare programs, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of
which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. Any action against us for violation of these or other laws, even if we
successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business.
Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance with applicable federal and state privacy, security, and fraud laws may prove costly.
In addition, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. Moreover, the requirements
governing drug pricing and reimbursement vary widely from country to country. For example, in the European Union the sole legal instrument at the European
Union level governing the pricing and reimbursement of medicinal products is Council Directive 89/105/EEC (the Price Transparency Directive). The aim of the
Price Transparency Directive is to ensure that pricing and reimbursement mechanisms established in European Union member states are transparent and objective,
do not hinder the free movement and trade of medicinal products in the European Union, and do not hinder, prevent or distort competition on the market. The Price
Transparency Directive does not, however, provide any guidance concerning the specific criteria on the basis of which pricing and reimbursement decisions are to
be made in individual European Union member states. The national authorities of the individual European Union member states are free to restrict the range of
medicinal products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices and/or reimbursement of medicinal products
for human use. Some individual European Union member states adopt policies according to which a specific price or level of reimbursement is approved for the
medicinal product. Other European Union member states adopt a system of reference pricing, basing the price or reimbursement level in their territory either, on
the pricing and reimbursement levels in other countries, or on the pricing and reimbursement levels of medicinal products intended for the same
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therapeutic indication. Furthermore, some European Union member states impose direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the
medicinal product on the market.
Health Technology Assessment (HTA) of medicinal products is becoming an increasingly common part of the pricing and reimbursement procedures in
some European Union member states. These countries include the United Kingdom, France, Germany, and Sweden. The HTA process in the European Union
member states is governed by the national laws of these countries. HTA is the procedure according to which the assessment of the public health impact, therapeutic
impact and the economic and societal impact of the use of a given medicinal product in the national healthcare systems of the individual country is conducted.
HTA generally focuses on the clinical efficacy and effectiveness, safety, cost, and cost-effectiveness of individual medicinal products as well as their potential
implications for the national healthcare system. Those elements of medicinal products are compared with other treatment options available on the market.
The outcome of HTA may influence the pricing and reimbursement status for specific medicinal products within individual European Union member
states. The extent to which pricing and reimbursement decisions are influenced by the HTA of a specific medicinal product vary between the European Union
member states.
In 2011, Directive 2011/24/EU was adopted at European Union level. This Directive concerns the application of patients’ rights in cross-border
healthcare. The Directive is intended to establish rules for facilitating access to safe and high-quality cross-border healthcare in the European Union. Pursuant to
Directive 2011/24/EU, a voluntary network of national authorities or bodies responsible for HTA in the individual EU member states was established. The purpose
of the network is to facilitate and support the exchange of scientific information concerning HTAs. This could lead to harmonization between European Union
member states of the criteria taken into account in the conduct of HTA in pricing and reimbursement decisions and negatively impact price in at least some
European Union member states.
If we fail to comply with data protection laws and regulations, we could be subject to government enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal
penalties), private litigation and/or adverse publicity, which could negatively affect our operating results and business.
We are subject to data protection laws and regulations (i.e., laws and regulations that address privacy and data security). In the U.S., numerous federal and
state laws and regulations, including state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws (e.g.,
Section 5 of the FTC Act), govern the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal information. Failure to comply with data
protection laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions and create liability for us (which could include civil and/or criminal penalties),
private litigation and/or adverse publicity that could negatively affect our operating results and business. In addition, we may obtain health information from third
parties (e.g., healthcare providers who prescribe our products) that are subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA, as amended by the Health
Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (the “HITECH Act”). Although we are not directly subject to HIPAA—other than potentially with
respect to providing certain employee benefits—we could be subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain or disclose individually identifiable health
information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. HIPAA generally requires that healthcare providers
and other covered entities obtain written authorizations from patients prior to disclosing protected health information of the patient (unless an exception to the
authorization requirement applies). If authorization is required and the patient fails to execute an authorization or the authorization fails to contain all required
provisions, then we may not be allowed access to and use of the patient’s information and our research efforts could be delayed. Furthermore, use of protected
health information that is provided to us pursuant to a valid patient authorization is subject to the limits set forth in the authorization (e.g., for use in research and in
submissions to regulatory authorities for product approvals). In addition, HIPAA does not replace federal, state, international or other laws that may grant
individuals even greater privacy protections.
EU member states and other jurisdictions where we operate have adopted data protection laws and regulations, which impose significant compliance
obligations. For example, the EU Data Protection Directive imposes strict obligations and restrictions on the ability to collect, analyze and transfer personal data,
including health data from clinical trials and adverse event reporting. Switzerland has adopted similar restrictions. Data protection authorities from the different EU
member states may interpret the applicable laws differently, and guidance on implementation and compliance practices are often updated or otherwise revised,
which adds to the complexity of processing personal data in the EU. Although there are legal mechanisms to allow for the transfer of personal data from the EU to
the U.S., the
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decision of the European Court of Justice in the Schrems case (Case C-362/14 Maximillian Schrems v. Data Protection Commissioner) invalidated the Safe Harbor
framework and increased uncertainty around compliance with European Union restrictions on cross-border data transfers. As a result of the decision, it was no
longer possible to rely on safe harbor certification as a legal basis for the transfer of personal data from the EU to entities in the U.S. On February 29, 2016,
however, the European Commission announced an agreement with the United States Department of Commerce (“DOC”) to replace the invalidated Safe Harbor
framework with a new EU-U.S. “Privacy Shield.” On July 12, 2016, the European Commission adopted a decision on the adequacy of the protection provided by
the Privacy Shield. The Privacy Shield is intended to address the requirements set out by the European Court of Justice in its ruling by imposing more stringent
obligations on companies, providing stronger monitoring and enforcement by the DOC and Federal Trade Commission, and making commitments on the part of
public authorities regarding access to information. U.S. companies have been able to certify to the U.S. DOC their compliance with the privacy principles of the
Privacy Shield since August 1, 2016. On September 16, 2016, the Irish privacy advocacy group Digital Rights Ireland brought an action for annulment of the
European Commission decision on the adequacy of the Privacy Shield before the European Court of Justice (Case T-670/16). Case T-670/16 is still pending. If,
however, the European Court of Justice invalidates the Privacy Shield, it will no longer be possible to rely on the Privacy Shield certification to support transfer of
personal data from the European Union to entities in the US. Adherence to the Privacy Shield is not, however, mandatory. U.S.-based companies are permitted to
rely either on their adherence to the EU-US Privacy Shield or on the other authorized means and procedures to transfer personal data provided by the EU Data
Protection Directive.
In December 2015, a proposal for an EU General Data Protection Regulation, intended to replace the current EU Data Protection Directive, introducing
new data protection requirements in the EU, as well as substantial fines for breaches of the data protection rules, was agreed between the European Parliament, the
Council of the European Union, and the European Commission. The EU General Data Protection Regulation entered into force on May 24, 2016 and will apply
from May 25, 2018. The EU Data Protection Regulation will increase our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process and we will also
face substantial fines for breaches of the data protection rules. We may be required to put in place additional mechanisms ensuring compliance with the new EU
data protection rules. Furthermore, there is a growth towards the public disclosure of clinical trial data in the European Union which adds to the complexity of
processing health data from clinical trials.
If we or our vendors fail to comply with applicable data privacy laws, or if the legal mechanisms we or our vendors rely upon to allow for the transfer of
personal data from the EU or Switzerland to the U.S. (or other countries not considered by the European Commission to provide an adequate level of data
protection) are not considered adequate, we could be subject to government enforcement actions and significant penalties against us, and our business could be
adversely impacted if our ability to transfer personal data outside of the European Union or Switzerland is restricted.
Failure to obtain regulatory approvals in foreign jurisdictions will prevent us from marketing our products internationally.
We may decide to seek marketing authorizations to commercialize ADS-5102, ADS-4101, and other future product candidates outside of the United
States. To market our future products in the European Union and many other foreign jurisdictions, we must obtain separate regulatory approvals. Specifically, in
the EU, medicinal products can only be commercialized after obtaining a Marketing Authorization, or MA.
Before granting an MA, the European Medicines Agency or the competent authorities of the member states of the EU make an assessment of the riskbenefit balance of the product on the basis of a Common Technical Document including, among other information, scientific criteria concerning its quality, safety,
and efficacy.
Similar to the U.S., both marketing authorization holders and manufacturers of medicinal products are subject to comprehensive regulatory oversight by
the EMA and the competent authorities of the individual EU member states both before and after grant of the manufacturing and Marketing Authorizations. This
includes control of compliance with cGMP rules, which govern quality control of the manufacturing process and require documentation policies and procedures.
We and our third-party manufacturers are required to ensure that all of our processes, methods, and equipment are compliant with cGMP. Failure by us or by any
of our third-party partners, including suppliers, manufacturers, and distributors to comply with EU laws and the related national laws of individual EU member
states governing the conduct of clinical trials, manufacturing approval, marketing authorization of medicinal products, both before and after grant of marketing
authorization, and marketing of such products following grant of authorization may result in administrative, civil, or criminal penalties. These penalties could
include delays in or refusal to authorize the
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conduct of clinical trials or to grant Marketing Authorization, product withdrawals and recalls, product seizures, suspension, or variation of the marketing
authorization, total or partial suspension of production, distribution, manufacturing, or clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunctions, suspension of licenses,
fines, and criminal penalties.
We have had limited interactions with foreign regulatory authorities. The approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional clinical
testing, and the time required to obtain approval may differ from and be longer than that required to obtain FDA approval. Clinical studies conducted in one
country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other
countries, and approval by one or more foreign regulatory authorities does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other foreign countries or by the FDA.
However, a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in others. The foreign regulatory
approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval as well as additional, different risks.
There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain marketing authorizations in foreign countries on a timely basis, if at all. We may not be able to file for
foreign regulatory approvals, and even if we file we may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our products in any market. If we are unable to obtain
non-U.S. regulatory approval to market our product candidates in other countries, we may not be able to achieve the financial results we project and our stock price
could decline.
Risks related to intellectual property
Our ability to successfully commercialize our technology and products may be materially adversely affected if we are unable to obtain and maintain effective
intellectual property rights for our technologies and product candidates.
Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other intellectual property protection in the United States and in other
countries with respect to our proprietary technology and products. In some circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing, and
prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain or enforce the patents, covering technology or products that we license to third parties or that we may license
from third parties. Therefore, we cannot be certain that these patents and applications will be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests
of our business. In addition, if third parties who license patents to us or from us fail to maintain such patents, or lose rights to those patents, the rights we have
licensed may be reduced or eliminated.
We have sought to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to our novel technologies and
products that are important to our business. This process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable
patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. In addition, we may not pursue or obtain patent protection in all relevant markets. It is also possible
that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Our pending and future patent
applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our technology or products, in whole or in part. In addition, our existing patents and any future
patents we obtain may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others from using our technologies or from developing competing products and technologies.
The patent position of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies generally is highly uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions for
which many legal principles remain unresolved. In recent years, patent rights have been the subject of significant litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope,
validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being
issued in the United States or in other jurisdictions which protect our technology or products or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive
technologies and products. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of
our patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the
United States. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other
jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we were the first to make the
inventions claimed in our patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. In addition, the United
States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, might require that the term of a patent issuing from a pending patent application be disclaimed and limited to the
term of another patent that is commonly owned or names a
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common inventor. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our patent rights is highly uncertain.
Recent or future patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the
enforcement or defense of our issued patents. In March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or America Invents Act, the United States moved from
a “first to invent” to a “first-to-file” system. Under a “first-to-file” system, assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a
patent application generally will be entitled to a patent on the invention regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. The America
Invents Act includes a number of other significant changes to U.S. patent law, including provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine
prior art and establish a new post-grant review system. The effects of these changes are currently unclear, as the USPTO only recently developed new regulations
and procedures in connection with the America Invents Act and many of the substantive changes to patent law, including the “first-to-file” provisions, only became
effective in March 2013. In addition, the courts have yet to address any of these provisions and the applicability of the act and new regulations on specific patents
discussed herein have not been determined and would need to be reviewed. However, the America Invents Act and its implementation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
From time to time, we may become involved in opposition, interference, derivation, inter partes review, or other proceedings challenging our patent
rights or the patent rights of others, and the outcome of any proceedings are highly uncertain. An adverse determination in any such proceeding could reduce the
scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or products and compete directly with us or Allergan, without
payment to us.
Even if our patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors
from competing with us, or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our owned or licensed patents by
developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its scope, validity, or
enforceability, and our owned and licensed patents may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. Such challenges may result in
the patent claims of our owned or licensed patents being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop or prevent us from
stopping others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and
products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing, and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates
might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others
from commercializing products similar or identical to ours or otherwise provide us with a competitive advantage.
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
Filing, prosecuting, and defending patents on all of our product candidates throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. Competitors may use
our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products
to territories where we have patent protection but where enforcement is not as strong as in the United States. These products may compete with our product
candidates in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued patents, and our patent claims or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to
prevent them from so competing. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual
property protection, particularly those relating to biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of
competing products against third parties in violation of our proprietary rights generally. The initiation of proceedings by third parties to enforce our patent rights in
foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends upon compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment, and other
requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment, and other
provisions during the patent prosecution process and following the issuance of a
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patent. Our failure to comply with such requirements could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of
patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors might be able to enter the market earlier than would otherwise have been the case if our
patent were in force.
We may become involved in lawsuits or other proceedings to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, timeconsuming, and unsuccessful.
Competitors may infringe or otherwise violate our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized
use, we or our licensees may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. For example, we, Forest, Forest Laboratories,
Inc., Merz Pharma GmbH & Co. KGaA, and Merz Pharmaceuticals GmbH filed patent infringement lawsuits under Forest’s patents and patents owned by us and
licensed to Forest, against several manufacturers of generic pharmaceuticals that have filed ANDAs with the FDA seeking approval to manufacture and sell
generic versions of Namzaric ® and Namenda XR ® . We anticipate that the prosecution of the lawsuits will require a significant amount of time and attention of
our chief executive officer and other senior executives. In addition, in a patent infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is invalid or
unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An
adverse result in any of the Forest litigations or any other litigation or proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted
narrowly. Such a result could limit our ability to prevent others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, limit our ability to
prevent others from launching generic versions of our products and could limit the duration of patent protection for our products, all of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business. A successful challenge to our patents could reduce or eliminate our right to receive royalties from Forest. Furthermore, because of
the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be
compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation.
Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we or our partners are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be
uncertain and could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.
Our commercial success depends upon our ability and the ability of our partners to develop, manufacture, market, and sell our product candidates and to
use our proprietary technologies without infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating the proprietary rights or intellectual property of third parties. We or
our partners may become party to, or be threatened with, future adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our
products and technology, including interference, derivation, re-examination, inter partes review, post-grant review, opposition, or similar proceedings before the
USPTO and its foreign counterparts. The costs of these proceedings could be substantial, and the proceedings may result in a loss of such intellectual property
rights. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent disputes and litigation more effectively than we can, because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any disputes or litigation could adversely affect our
ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our operations. Third parties may assert infringement claims against us or our partners based on existing patents or
patents that may be granted in the future. Under our license agreement with Allergan we are obliged to indemnify Allergan under certain circumstances and our
royalty entitlements may also be reduced. Our indemnification obligation to Allergan, while subject to customary limitations, has no monetary cap, and our right to
receive royalties from Allergan may be eliminated in any calendar quarter in which certain third party generic competition exists. If we or our partners are found to
infringe a third-party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third-party to continue developing and marketing our
products and technology. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a
license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. We could be forced, including by court order, to
cease commercializing the infringing technology or product. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages. A finding of infringement could prevent
us from commercializing our product candidates or force us to cease some of our business operations, which could materially harm our business. Claims that we
have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business.
We may be unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, thus harming our business and competitive position.
In addition to our patented technology and products, we rely upon trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology, and other proprietary
information, to develop and maintain our competitive position, which we seek to
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protect, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees, our partners, and consultants. We also have agreements with our employees and selected
consultants that obligate them to assign their inventions to us. However, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the
conception or development of intellectual property to execute such agreements, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who in
fact conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. In addition, it is possible that technology relevant to our business will be independently
developed by a person that is not a party to such an agreement.
While to our knowledge the confidentiality of our trade secrets has not been compromised, if the employees, consultants or partners that are parties to
these agreements breach or violate the terms of these agreements, we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation, and we could lose our trade
secrets through such breaches or violations. Further, our trade secrets could be disclosed, misappropriated, or otherwise become known or be independently
discovered by our competitors. In addition, intellectual property laws in foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property to the same extent as the laws of
the United States. If our trade secrets are disclosed or misappropriated, it would harm our ability to protect our rights and adversely affect our business.
Risks related to ownership of our common stock
Our stock price may be volatile, and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial losses.
Our stock price has fluctuated in the past and may be volatile in the future. The stock market in general and the market for securities of pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies in particular have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies.
As a result of this volatility, investors may experience losses on their investments in our stock.
In addition, the clinical development stage of our operations may make it difficult for investors to evaluate the success of our business to date and to
assess our future viability. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors, including:
•

whether or not our NDA for ADS-5102 for the treatment of LID in patients with Parkinson’s disease is approved by the FDA;

•

the success of competitive products or technologies;

•

results of clinical studies of our product candidates or those of our competitors;

•

introductions and announcements of new products and product candidates by us, our commercialization partners, or our competitors, and the timing of
these introductions or announcements;

•

actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our or our competitors’ products, product candidates, clinical studies, manufacturing process, or
sales and marketing terms;

•

variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be comparable to us;

•

the success of our efforts to acquire or in-license additional products or product candidates;

•

developments concerning our collaborations, including but not limited to those with our sources of manufacturing and our commercialization partners;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;

•

developments or disputes concerning patents or other proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters, and our ability to obtain patent protection
for our current or future products;

•

our ability or inability to raise additional capital and the terms on which we raise it;

•

the recruitment or departure of key personnel;

•

changes in the structure of healthcare reimbursement systems;
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•

regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries, especially changes in laws or regulations applicable to our current or future
products;

•

market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;

•

actual or anticipated changes in earnings estimates or changes in stock market analyst recommendations regarding our common stock, other
comparable companies or our industry generally;

•

trading volume of our common stock;

•

sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders;

•

general economic, industry, and market conditions; and

•

the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.

These broad market and industry factors may seriously harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance.
Additionally, following periods of volatility in the market, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against companies. Such litigation, if instituted
against us, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders could cause our stock price to fall.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market
price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales
may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock.
Concentration of ownership of our common stock among our existing executive officers, directors, and principal stockholders may prevent new investors from
influencing significant corporate decisions.
Our executive officers, directors and current beneficial owners of 5% or more of our common stock, in the aggregate, beneficially own a significant
percentage of our outstanding common stock. These persons, acting together, will be able to significantly influence all matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the election and removal of directors and any merger or other significant corporate transactions. The interests of this group of stockholders may not
coincide with the interests of other stockholders.
We will continue to incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies,
and we could fail to successfully improve our systems, procedures, and controls, which could affect our operating results.
As a public company, we will continue to incur legal, accounting and other expenses associated with reporting requirements and corporate governance
requirements, including requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, as well as
new rules implemented by the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC. We expect that we will need to continue to improve existing, and implement new
operational, financial, and information management systems, procedures, and controls to manage our business effectively. Any delay in the implementation of, or
disruption in the transition to, new or enhanced systems, procedures, or controls may cause our operations to suffer and we may be unable to conclude that our
internal control over financial reporting is effective.
An active trading market for our common stock may not be maintained.
Our stock is currently traded on NASDAQ, but we can provide no assurance that we will be able to maintain an active trading market on NASDAQ or any
other exchange in the future or that the daily trading volume will be adequate to allow orderly purchases or sales of our common stock without significantly
impacting the price per share. If an active market for our common stock is not maintained, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell shares without depressing
the market price for the shares or at all.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about us or our business, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business. Securities and industry analysts may cease to publish research on our company at any time in their discretion. If one or more of these analysts cease
coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price and trading volume to
decline. In addition, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock
price would likely decline. If our operating results fail to meet the forecast of analysts, our stock price will likely decline.
Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us more difficult and may prevent attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Provisions in our corporate charter and our bylaws may discourage, delay, or prevent a merger, acquisition, or other change in control of us that
stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could also
limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. In
addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors. Because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team,
these provisions could in turn affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team. Among others, these provisions include
that:
•

our board of directors is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms, which may delay or prevent a change of our management or a
change in control;

•

our board of directors has the right to change the size of our board of directors and to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the
board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of
directors;

•

our stockholders may not act by written consent or call special stockholders’ meetings; as a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a majority of our
capital stock would not be able to take certain actions other than at annual stockholders’ meetings or special stockholders’ meetings called by the
board of directors or the chairman of the board and chief executive officer;

•

our certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect
director candidates;

•

stockholders must provide advance notice and additional disclosures in order to nominate individuals for election to the board of directors or to
propose matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation
of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company; and

•

our board of directors may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of undesignated preferred stock, and the ability to issue undesignated preferred
stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of
any attempt to acquire us.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of the
transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.
Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will be our stockholders’
sole source of gain.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all of our
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future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of our business. In addition, the terms of existing or any future debt agreements may preclude us
from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain for the foreseeable future.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not applicable.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
Not applicable.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index, which is incorporated here by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Registrant)

Date:

May 9, 2017

/s/ Gregory T. Went, Ph.D.
Gregory T. Went, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:

May 9, 2017

/s/ William J. Dawson
William J. Dawson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporation By Reference

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Form

SEC File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed/Furnished
Herewith

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Adamas
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

8-K

001-36399

3.1

4/15/2014

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Adamas
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

S-1

333-194342

3.4

3/5/2014

4.1

Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 through 3.2.

4.2

Form of Common Stock Certificate of Adamas
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

S-1

333-194342

4.1

3/26/2014

4.3

Fourth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement,
dated as of June 30, 2011, by and among the registrant and
certain of its stockholders.

S-1

333-194342

10.5

3/5/2014

10.1

2017 Executive Cash Bonus Award Program.

8-K

001-36399

10.1

4/5/2017

10.2

Amended and Restated Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Executive
Severance Plan.

10.3

2017 compensation actions with respect to the CEO and CFO

8-K

001-36399

Item 5.02

2/27/2017

10.4

2016 Inducement Plan

S-8

333-216313

99.5

2/28/2017

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

X

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

X

32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.(1)

X

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

X
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(1) This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Exhibit 10.2

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan

1.
Purpose and Eligibility . This Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan (the “ Plan ”) is intended to provide
severance benefits to employees of Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “ Company ”) who hold the title of Vice President or above (each, a “
Participant ”). The Plan is effective as of March 30, 2017. The Plan amends and restates in its entirety the Executive Severance Plan of the
Company.
2.

Eligibility for Benefits .
General Rules. Subject to the requirements set forth in the plan, the Company will grant severance benefits under

(a)

the Plan to Participants.

(1)
For purposes of the Plan, a Participant is a Regular Employee of the Company who holds a position at the
level of Vice President or above on the date of termination of his or her employment.
(2)
In order to be eligible to receive any benefits under the Plan, a Participant must remain on the job and
satisfactorily provide services to the Company until the date of his or her Qualifying Termination or CIC Termination, as applicable, as
scheduled by the Company (which date need not be the same for each Participant).
(3)
In order to be eligible to receive any benefits under the Plan, a Participant must sign and not revoke a
release of claims agreement (the “ Release ”), in the form provided by the Company.
(b)
Exceptions to Benefit Entitlement. An employee, including an employee who otherwise is a Participant, will not
receive benefits under the Plan (or will receive reduced benefits under the Plan) in any of the following circumstances, as determined by the
Company in its sole discretion:
(1)
The employee has executed an individually negotiated employment or separation contract or agreement
with the Company relating to severance benefits that is in effect on his or her termination date, in which case such employee’s severance
benefit, if any, will be governed by the terms of such individually negotiated employment or separation contract or agreement.
(2)

The Company terminates the employee’s employment for Cause.

(3)
The employee voluntarily terminates employment with the Company other than for Good Reason in
connection with a CIC Termination. Voluntary terminations include, but are not limited to, resignation, retirement or failure to return from a
leave of absence on the scheduled date.
(4)

The employee’s employment is terminated as a result of his or her death or disability.

(5)
The employee is offered an identical or substantially equivalent or comparable position with the Company
or an affiliate of the Company. For purposes of the foregoing, a “substantially equivalent or comparable position” is one that offers the
employee substantially the same level of responsibility and compensation.
1

(6)
The employee is rehired by the Company or an affiliate of the Company prior to the date benefits under
the Plan are scheduled to commence.
(7)
The employee has not signed the Company’s standard form of confidential information and inventions
assignment agreement (“ Proprietary Agreement ”) covering the employee’s period of employment with the Company (and with any
predecessor) and/or does not confirm in writing that he or she is and will remain subject to the terms of that agreement.
3.
Severance Benefits not in Connection with a Change in Control . In the event of a Qualifying Termination that is not a
CIC Termination, a Participant will be eligible for severance benefits consisting of (a) a cash severance payment, and (b) continuation of
health benefits for certain periods, as follows:
(a)
Cash Severance : The cash severance payment shall be calculated as a multiple of the Participant’s monthly base
salary as in effect immediately before termination of employment, and shall be paid in the form of salary continuation on the Company’s
regular payroll dates.
(1)

For a Tier I Participant and a Tier II Participant, the multiple shall be 12; and

(2)

For a Tier III Participant, the multiple shall be 9.

(b)
Health Benefits: The health benefits shall consist of the payment or reimbursement of premiums for continued
medical coverage (“ COBRA ”) for a Participant and his or her eligible dependents for the period during which salary continuation payments
are provided in subsection (a) above, or until the Participant and his or her dependents are eligible for other employer-provided medical
coverage, if earlier (such applicable period is referred to herein as the “ COBRA Payment Period ”). The amount of payment or
reimbursement shall equal the amount, if any, by which such premiums exceed the amount payable by active employees in the same plan.
The Participant must timely enroll for COBRA coverage and must otherwise remain eligible for such coverage under the medical plan(s)
then-offered by the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the payment
or reimbursement of the COBRA premiums would result in a violation of the nondiscrimination rules of Section 105(h)(2) of the Code or any
statute or regulation of similar effect (including, without limitation, the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the
2010 Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act), then in lieu of reimbursing the Participant for the COBRA premiums, the Company will
instead pay the Participant, on the first day of each month of the remainder of the COBRA Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment
equal to the COBRA premiums for that month, subject to applicable tax withholdings and deductions. If the Participant becomes eligible for
coverage under another employer’s group health plan or otherwise ceases to be eligible for COBRA during the COBRA Payment Period, the
Participant must immediately notify the Company of such event, and all payments and obligations under this paragraph will cease.
4.
Severance Benefits in Connection with a Change in Control . In the event of a CIC Termination, a Participant will be
eligible for severance benefits consisting of (a) a cash severance payment, (b) a pro-rata annual bonus payment, (c) continuation of health
benefits for certain periods; (d) full acceleration of all equity awards outstanding at the time of the Change in Control, and (e) extension of the
time period to exercise vested stock options following termination, as follows:
(a)
Cash Severance : The cash severance payment, payable in the form of a lump sum, shall be calculated as a
multiple of the sum of (i) the Participant’s annual base salary as in effect immediately before termination of employment plus (ii) the
Participant’s annual target bonus.
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(1)

For a Tier I Participant, the multiple shall be 1.5; and

(2)

For a Tier II Participant and a Tier III Participant, the multiple shall be 1.

(b)
Pro-Rata Annual Bonus : The pro-rata annual bonus payment, payable in the form of a lump sum payment, shall
be calculated as a pro-rata portion of the current fiscal year annual (short-term) bonus based on the number of full months worked in the fiscal
year in which the CIC Termination occurs through the date of the CIC Termination, and assuming performance at target for all metrics.
(c)
Health Benefits: Health benefits shall consist of the payment or reimbursement of premiums for COBRA
coverage for a Participant and his or her eligible dependents for a period of 18 months in the case of the Tier I Participant, and 12 months for
Tier II and Tier III Participants, or such earlier time as the Participant is eligible for other employer-provided medical coverage (such
applicable period is referred to herein as the “ CIC COBRA Payment Period ”). The amount of payment or reimbursement shall equal the
amount, if any, by which such premiums exceed the amount payable by active employees in the same plan. The Participant must timely enroll
for such COBRA coverage and otherwise remain eligible under the medical plan(s) then-offered by the Company. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if at any time the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the payment or reimbursement of the COBRA premiums would
result in a violation of the nondiscrimination rules of Section 105(h)(2) of the Code or any statute or regulation of similar effect (including,
without limitation, the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the 2010 Health Care and Education Reconciliation
Act), then in lieu of reimbursing the Participant for the COBRA premiums, the Company will instead pay the Participant, on the first day of
each month of the remainder of the CIC COBRA Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA premiums for that
month, subject to applicable tax withholdings and deductions. If the Participant becomes eligible for coverage under another employer’s
group health plan or otherwise ceases to be eligible for COBRA during the CIC COBRA Payment Period, the Participant must immediately
notify the Company of such event, and all payments and obligations under this paragraph will cease.
(d)
Equity Award Acceleration . All time-based equity awards outstanding at the time of a Change in Control of the
Company (to the extent such awards are outstanding, assumed, substituted or otherwise continued in connection with a Change in Control,
each an “ Assumed Award ”) shall receive full acceleration on vesting and full release of any restrictions. All performance-based equity
awards that are Assumed Awards shall also be fully vested, with performance metrics determined assuming the higher of actual or targetlevel achievement on all performance metrics.
(e)
Extension of Option Exercise Period . Each Assumed Award that is a stock option will remain exercisable by a
Participant until the earlier of (i) one (1) year after the Participant’s CIC Termination date; and (ii) the expiration date of the stock option as
stated in the applicable stock option agreement. If an Assumed Award is an incentive stock option (as defined in Section 422 of the Code)
with an exercise price below the fair market value of a share of the Company’s Common Stock as of the date a Participant signs his or her
Participation Notice, such incentive stock option will automatically convert to a nonstatutory stock option for tax purposes as of the date of
such Participation Notice.
5.
Certain Reductions. Any payments under the Plan shall be reduced by any severance benefit payable to the Participant
under any other Company plan, program or agreement or that are provided during a period following written notice of a plant closing or mass
layoff, pay and benefits in lieu of such notice, or other similar benefits payable to the Participant by the Company or an affiliate that become
payable in connection with the Participant’s termination of employment pursuant to (i) any
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applicable legal requirement, including, without limitation, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or any other similar state
law, or (ii) any Company policy or practice providing for the Participant to remain on the payroll for a limited period of time after being
given notice of the termination of the Participant’s employment, and the Plan Administrator shall so construe and implement the terms of the
Plan.
6.
Reemployment . In the event of a Participant’s reemployment by the Company or any other affiliate of the Company
during the period of time in respect of which severance benefits pursuant to the Plan have been paid, the Company, in its sole and absolute
discretion, may require such Participant to repay to the Company all or a portion of such severance benefits as a condition of reemployment.
7.
Release Required; Form and Time of Payment . The Release required under Section 2(a)(3) of the Plan must be signed
by the Participant, returned to the Company and become effective no later than 60 days after the date of the Participant’s termination of
employment (the “ Release Deadline ”). No severance or other benefits will be paid or provided until the Release becomes effective and nonrevocable (the “Release Effective Date ”). In the case of salary continuation payments to be made pursuant to Section 3(a) and COBRA
premium payments to be made pursuant to Sections 3(b) and 4(c), all payments that otherwise would have been made prior to the Release
Effective Date shall be made in the next administratively practicable payroll period following the Release Effective Date. In the case of the
lump sum cash payments to be made pursuant to Sections 4(a) and 4(b), such lump sum payments shall be paid in the next available payroll
cycle, but in no event later than 20 days after the Release Effective Date.

All payments under the Plan shall be subject to, and made net of, applicable deductions and withholdings.
All payments are subject to the Participant’s continuing compliance with the Proprietary Agreement (as reflected in the Release), and
to the Company’s policies on recoupment, as in effect from time to time.
8.
Compliance with Section 409A . Any amounts payable solely on account of an involuntary separation from service within
the meaning of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“ Section 409A ”) shall be, to the maximum extent
possible, excludible from the requirements of Section 409A, either as involuntary separation pay or as short-term deferral amounts. To the
extent not so exempt, the Plan (and any definitions in the Plan) will be construed in a manner that complies with Section 409A, and
incorporates by reference all required definitions and payment terms. For purposes of Section 409A, each payment of compensation under the
Plan shall be treated as a separate payment of compensation.

Any reimbursements or in-kind benefits provided under the Plan shall be made or provided in accordance with the requirements of
Section 409A, including, where applicable, the requirement that (a) any reimbursement is for expenses incurred during the period of time
specified in the agreement, (b) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided, during a calendar year may
not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other calendar year, (c) the reimbursement of an
eligible expense will be made no later than the last day of the calendar year following the year in which the expense is incurred, and (d) the
right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
A termination of employment shall not be deemed to occur for purposes of the Plan providing for the payment of any amounts or
benefits that are considered “deferred compensation” under Section 409A upon or following a termination of employment, unless such
termination is also a “separation from
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service” within the meaning of Section 409A and the payment thereof prior to a “separation from service” would violate Section 409A. For
purposes of any such provision of the Plan relating to any such payments or benefits, references to a “termination,” “termination of
employment” or like terms shall mean ‘separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A. If payment of any amount of
nonqualified deferred compensation is triggered by a separation from service that occurs while the Participant is a “specified employee” (as
such terms are defined in Section 409A), and if such amount is scheduled to be paid within six months after such separation from service, the
amount shall accrue without interest and shall be paid the first business day after the end of such six-month period, or, if earlier, within 15
days after the appointment of the personal representative or executor of the Participant’s estate following the Participant’s death.
If the Release Deadline would begin in one calendar year and expire in the following calendar year, then any payments contingent on
such Release shall be made in such following calendar year (regardless of the year of execution of such Release) if payment in such following
calendar year is required in order to comply with Section 409A.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company does not make any guarantees or other assurances of any kind with respect to the tax
consequences or treatment of any amounts paid or payable to a Participant under the Plan.
9.
Best After-Tax Provision . Except as otherwise expressly provided in an agreement between a Participant and the
Company, if any payment or benefit a Participant would receive in connection with a Change in Control from the Company or otherwise (a “
Payment ”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “ Excise Tax ”), then such Payment will be equal to the Reduced Amount.
The “ Reduced Amount ” will be either (A) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to
the Excise Tax, or (B) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount ((A) or (B)), after taking into
account all applicable federal, state, provincial, foreign, and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the
highest applicable marginal rate), results in the Participant’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greatest economic benefit notwithstanding
that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in payments or benefits constituting “parachute
payments” is necessary so that the Payment equals the Reduced Amount, reductions in the payments and/or benefits will occur in the
following order: (i) cash payments that are treated in full as a parachute payment under Treasury Regulation Section 1.280G-1, Q&A 24; (ii)
equity-based payments and acceleration that are treated in full as a parachute payment; (iii) cash payments that are treated in part as a
parachute payment; (iv) equity-based payments and acceleration that are treated in part as a parachute payment; and (v) other non-cash forms
of benefits. Within any such category of payments and benefits (that is, clause (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v)), a reduction shall occur first with
respect to amounts that are not “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and then with respect to amounts
that are “deferred compensation.” The professional firm engaged by the Company for general tax purposes as of the day prior to the effective
date of the Change in Control shall make all determinations required to be made under this Section 9. If the professional firm so engaged by
the Company is serving as an accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, the Company shall
appoint a nationally recognized independent registered public accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder. The Company
shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such professional firm required to be made hereunder. Any good faith
determinations of the professional firm made hereunder shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and the Participant.
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10.
Effect on Other Benefits/At-Will Status . Payments under the Plan shall not be considered compensation for purposes of
any other compensation or benefit plan, program, or agreement of the Company or its affiliates. All other compensation and benefit plans and
programs shall be governed by the applicable Company plan or agreement. The Plan does not create an employment relationship for any
fixed term. The Plan shall not be deemed (i) to give any Participant or other person any right to be retained in the employ of the Company or
(ii) to interfere with the right of the Company to discharge any employee or other person at any time, with or without cause, which right is
hereby reserved.

Definitions . For purposes of the Plan, the following terms have the following meanings:

11.
(a)

Board. The Board of Directors of the Company.

(b)
Cause . A Participant’s (i) commission of any felony or any crime involving fraud, dishonesty or moral turpitude
under the laws of the United States or any state thereof; (ii) attempted commission of, or participation in, a fraud or act of dishonesty against
the Company; (iii) intentional, material violation of any contract or agreement between the Participant and the Company or of any statutory
duty owed to the Company; (iv) unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s confidential information or trade secrets; (v) an act by the
Participant which constitutes gross negligence, willful misconduct or insubordination in the course of employment; or (vi) the continued
failure of the Participant to perform the essential duties and responsibilities of his or her position, after having received notice of the
deficiencies and having had 30 days to cure such defects in performance. The determination that a termination of the employment of a
Participant is either for Cause or without Cause will be made by the Company, in its sole discretion.
(c)
CIC or Change in Control . A Change in Control of the Company shall have the same meaning for purposes of
the Plan as defined in the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, provided that such transaction also qualifies as a “change in ownership of a
corporation” or a “change in ownership of a substantial portion of a corporation’s assets” as provided in Treasury Regulation Sections
1.409A-3(i)(5)(v) and (vii).
(d)
CIC Termination. The voluntary termination by a Participant for Good Reason or the involuntary termination of
a Participant other than for Cause, or by reason of death or disability, that occurs in connection with or within 12 months after a Change in
Control of the Company.
(e)
Good Reason . The occurrence of one of the following events without a Participant’s consent: (i) a decrease in a
Participant’s base salary or target bonus by more than 10%, (ii) a material decrease in a Participant’s duties or responsibilities (but excluding
a change in title or reporting relationship), (iii) a relocation of the Participant’s primary work location by more than 50 miles, or (iv) the
Company’s failure to obtain an agreement from a successor to continue the Plan or to substitute for it a plan or other compensation
arrangement that provides equivalent or greater benefits; provided, however , that to resign for Good Reason, a Participant must (1) provide
written notice to the Company’s General Counsel within 30 days after the first occurrence of the event giving rise to Good Reason setting
forth the basis for his or her resignation for Good Reason, (2) allow the Company at least 30 days from receipt of such written notice to cure
such event, and (3) if such event is not reasonably cured within such period, the Participant’s resignation from all positions he or she then
holds with the Company is effective not later than 30 days after the expiration of the cure period.

or disability.

(f)

Qualifying Termination . The involuntary termination of a Participant, other than for Cause or by reason of death
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(g)
Regular Employee . An employee who is hired to work for the Company for an unspecified period of time. An
employee is a Regular Employee only if the employee received and accepted a written offer of employment directly from the Company that
expressly offered Regular Employee status.
(h)
Representative . One or more members of the Board or persons designated by the Board prior to or in connection
with a Change in Control, provided no such persons may be Participants.
(i)
Tier I Participant . A Participant who is the Chief Executive Officer at the time of a Qualifying Termination or a
CIC Termination, as applicable.
(j)
Tier II Participant . A Participant who is the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Business Officer, General Counsel,
Chief Medical Officer, Chief Operating Officer, or any other officer so designated by the Compensation Committee of the Board at the time
of a Qualifying Termination or a CIC Termination, as applicable.
(k)
Tier III Participant . A Participant who is a Vice President or Senior Vice President and who is not a Tier I
Participant or a Tier II Participant at the time of a Qualifying Termination or a CIC Termination, as applicable.
12.

Right to Interpret and Administer Plan; Amendment and Termination .

(a)
Interpretation and Administration. The Plan Administrator is the Company. As Plan Administrator, the
Company is the named fiduciary charged with the responsibility for administering the Plan. The Plan Administrator shall have the exclusive
discretion and authority to establish rules, forms, and procedures for the administration of the Plan and to construe and interpret the Plan and
to decide any and all questions of fact, interpretation, definition, computation or administration arising in connection with the operation of the
Plan, including, but not limited to, the eligibility to participate in the Plan and amount of benefits paid under the Plan The Plan Administrator
may delegate any or all of its administrative duties to an officer of the Company and any such delegation will convey with it the full
discretionary authority of the Plan Administrator to carry out the delegated duties. The Company or the Plan Administrator will indemnify
and hold harmless any person to whom it delegated its responsibilities; provided , however , such person does not act with gross negligence or
willful misconduct. The rules, interpretations, computations and other actions of the Plan Administrator or its delegate will be binding and
conclusive on all persons. Any references in the Plan to the “Plan Administrator” with respect to periods following the closing of a Change in
Control shall mean the Representative.
(b)
Amendment and Termination. The Plan Administrator reserves the right to amend or terminate the Plan at any
time in its discretion; provided, however, that any amendment or termination of the Plan that would adversely affect a particular employee
will not be effective as to such employee without his or her written consent if such amendment or termination is to occur upon or at any time
following the occurrence of a Qualifying Termination or a CIC Termination, as applicable. In addition, the Plan will automatically terminate
following the satisfaction of all of the Company’s obligations under the Plan.
13.

Other Important Information .

(a)
Source of Benefits . The Plan is unfunded, and all severance benefits will be paid from the general assets of the
Company or its successor. No contributions are required under the Plan.
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(b)
Prior Plans Superseded . The Plan supersedes any and all prior separation, change in control, severance and
salary continuation arrangements, programs and/or similar plans that may previously have been offered or provided by the Company (and its
predecessors-in-interest) to Participants.
(c)
Indemnification. The Company agrees to indemnify its officers and employees and the members of the Board
from all liabilities from their acts or omissions in connection with the administration, amendment or termination of the Plan, to the maximum
extent permitted by applicable law.
(d)
Severability. If any provision of the Plan is held invalid or unenforceable, its invalidity or unenforceability will
not affect any other provision of the Plan, and the Plan will be construed and enforced as if such provision had not been included.

Headings. Headings in the Plan document are for purposes of reference only and will not limit or otherwise affect

(e)

the meaning hereof
14.

Legal Construction .

The Plan is intended to be governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 (“ ERISA ”) and, to the extent not preempted by ERISA, the laws of the State of California.
15.

Claims, Inquiries and Appeals .

(a)
Applications for Benefits and Inquiries. Any application for benefits, inquiries about the Plan or inquiries about
present or future rights under the Plan must be submitted to the Plan Administrator in writing by an applicant (or his or her authorized
representative). The Plan Administrator is:

Attn: General Counsel
Re: Severance Plan Claim
Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1900 Powell Street, Suite 750
Emeryville, CA 94608
(b)
Denial of Claims. In the event that any application for benefits is denied in whole or in part, the Plan
Administrator must provide the applicant with written or electronic notice of the denial of the application, and of the applicant’s right to
review the denial. Any electronic notice will comply with the regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor. The notice of denial will be set
forth in a manner designed to be understood by the applicant and will include the following:
(1)

the specific reason or reasons for the denial;

(2)

references to the specific Plan provisions upon which the denial is based;

(3)
a description of any additional information or material that the Plan Administrator needs to complete the
review and an explanation of why such information or material is necessary; and
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(4)
an explanation of the Plan’s review procedures and the time limits applicable to such procedures,
including a statement of the applicant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA following a denial on review of the claim,
as described in Section 15(d) below.

This notice of denial will be given to the applicant within ninety (90) days after the Plan Administrator receives the
application, unless special circumstances require an extension of time, in which case, the Plan Administrator has up to an additional ninety
(90) days for processing the application. If an extension of time for processing is required, written notice of the extension will be furnished to
the applicant before the end of the initial ninety (90) day period.
This notice of extension will describe the special circumstances necessitating the additional time and the date by which the
Plan Administrator is to render its decision on the application.
(c)
Request for a Review. Any person (or that person’s authorized representative) for whom an application for
benefits is denied, in whole or in part, may appeal the denial by submitting a request for a review to the Plan Administrator within sixty (60)
days after the application is denied. A request for a review shall be in writing and shall be addressed to:

Attn: General Counsel
Re: Severance Plan Appeal
Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1900 Powell Street, Suite 750
Emeryville, CA 94608
A request for review must set forth all of the grounds on which it is based, all facts in support of the request and any other
matters that the applicant feels are pertinent. The applicant (or his or her representative) shall have the opportunity to submit (or the Plan
Administrator may require the applicant to submit) written comments, documents, records, and other information relating to his or her claim.
The applicant (or his or her representative) shall be provided, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all
documents, records and other information relevant to his or her claim. The review shall take into account all comments, documents, records
and other information submitted by the applicant (or his or her representative) relating to the claim, without regard to whether such
information was submitted or considered in the initial benefit determination.
(d)
Decision on Review. The Plan Administrator will act on each request for review within sixty (60) days after
receipt of the request, unless special circumstances require an extension of time (not to exceed an additional sixty (60) days), for processing
the request for a review. If an extension for review is required, written notice of the extension will be furnished to the applicant within the
initial sixty (60) day period. This notice of extension will describe the special circumstances necessitating the additional time and the date by
which the Plan Administrator is to render its decision on the review. The Plan Administrator will give prompt, written or electronic notice of
its decision to the applicant. Any electronic notice will comply with the regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor. In the event that the
Plan Administrator confirms the denial of the application for benefits in whole or in part, the notice will set forth, in a manner calculated to be
understood by the applicant, the following:
(1)

the specific reason or reasons for the denial;

(2)

references to the specific Plan provisions upon which the denial is based;
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(3)
a statement that the applicant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to,
and copies of, all documents, records and other information relevant to his or her claim; and
(4)

a statement of the applicant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA.

(e)
Rules and Procedures. The Plan Administrator will establish rules and procedures, consistent with the Plan and
with ERISA, as necessary and appropriate in carrying out its responsibilities in reviewing benefit claims. The Plan Administrator may require
an applicant who wishes to submit additional information in connection with an appeal from the denial of benefits to do so at the applicant’s
own expense.
(f)
Exhaustion of Remedies. No legal action for benefits under the Plan may be brought until the applicant (i) has
submitted a written application for benefits in accordance with the procedures described by Section 15(a) above, (ii) has been notified by the
Plan Administrator that the application is denied, (iii) has filed a written request for a review of the application in accordance with the appeal
procedure described in Section 15(c) above, and (iv) has been notified that the Plan Administrator has denied the appeal. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if the Plan Administrator does not respond to an Participant’s claim or appeal within the relevant time limits specified in this
Section 15, the Participant may bring legal action for benefits under the Plan pursuant to Section 502(a) of ERISA.
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ADDITIONAL PLAN INFORMATION
Name of Plan:

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated Severance Plan

Employer Sponsoring Plan:

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1900 Powell Street, Suite 750
Emeryville, CA 94608

Employer Identification Number:

42-1560076

Plan Number:

543

Plan Year:

Calendar Year

Plan Administrator:

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
c/o General Counsel
1900 Powell Street, Suite 750
Emeryville, CA 94608
Telephone No. (510) 450-3500

Agent for Service of Legal Process:

Plan Administrator, at the above address

Type of Plan:

Employee Welfare Benefit Plan providing for severance benefits

Plan Costs:

The cost of the Plan is paid by Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Type of Administration:

Self-administered by the Plan Administrator
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Gregory T. Went, Ph.D., hereby certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

Date:

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

May 9, 2017

/s/ Gregory T. Went, Ph.D.
Gregory T. Went, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, William J. Dawson, hereby certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

Date:

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

May 9, 2017

/s/ William J. Dawson
William J. Dawson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63
of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Gregory T. Went, Ph.D., Chief Executive Officer of Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), and
William J. Dawson, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:
1.

The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 , to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the
“Periodic Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2.

The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of the 9th day of May, 2017 .
/s/ Gregory T. Went, Ph.D.

/s/ William J. Dawson

Gregory T. Went, Ph.D.

William J. Dawson

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated
by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

